
 

1 of 2 
 

 
 

NOTICE OF CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP MEETING 
 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE CITY COUNCIL, CITY OF ROSENBERG, FORT BEND COUNTY, 
TEXAS, WILL MEET IN A WORKSHOP SESSION OPEN TO THE PUBLIC AS FOLLOWS: 

 
DATE:   Tuesday, January 27, 2015 

 
TIME:   6:00 p.m. 

 
PLACE:  Rosenberg City Hall 

City Hall Council Chamber 
2110 4th Street 
Rosenberg, Texas  77471 

  
PURPOSE:  City Council Workshop Meeting, agenda as follows: 
  
During a City Council Workshop, the City Council does not take final action on the agenda items and any 
consideration of final action will be scheduled at a Regular or Special City Council Meeting. Public comments are 
welcomed at Regular or Special City Council Meetings. No public comments will be received at a Workshop 
Meeting. 

 
The City Council reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at any time during the course of this meeting 
to discuss any of the matters listed below, as authorized by Title 5, Chapter 551, of the Texas Government Code. 

 
Call to order:  City Hall Council Chamber 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Review and discuss the City’s junked vehicle regulations, and take action as necessary to direct staff. 

(William Benton, Councilor) 
 

2. Review and discuss the FY2015 Street Right-of-Way Tree Trimming Contract, and take action as necessary 
to direct staff. (John Maresh, Assistant City Manager of Public Services) 
 

3. Review and discuss proposed traffic calming speed hump installation and removal policy and procedures, 
and take action as necessary to direct staff. (John Maresh, Assistant City Manager of Public Services) 
 

4. Review and discuss proposed amendments to Code of Ordinances, Chapter 6, Articles XVI and XVII, 
regarding Parking Lot and Single-Family Residential Dwelling Standards, and take action as necessary to 
direct staff. (Travis Tanner, Executive Director of Community Development) 
 

5. Review and discuss a proposed tax credit multifamily development project by Palladium Rosenberg, and 
take action as necessary to direct staff. (Travis Tanner, Executive Director of Community Development) 
 

6. Review and discuss a request for statue placement in Seabourne Creek Park, and take action as necessary 
to direct staff.(Darren McCarthy, Parks and Recreation Director) 
 

7. Adjournment. 
 

[EXECUTION PAGE TO FOLLOW]  



 

2 of 2 
 

DATED AND POSTED this the ___________ day of ____________________ 2015, at _______________m.,  
 
 
by ____________________________________. 

 
 
 

____________________________________________ 
Attest:       

     Christine Krahn, Acting City Secretary  
 
 
 

____________________________________________ 
Approved for Posting:   
Robert Gracia, City Manager 

 
 
 

____________________________________________ 
Approved:   
Vincent M. Morales, Jr., Mayor 

 
Reasonable accommodation for the disabled attending this meeting will be available; persons with disabilities in need 
of special assistance at the meeting should contact the City Secretary at (832) 595-3340.   
 



CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
 
January 27, 2015  
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

1 Junked Vehicle Regulations Discussion 

ITEM/MOTION 

Review and discuss the City’s junked vehicle regulations, and take action as necessary to direct staff. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY ELECTION DISTRICT 

Annualized Dollars: 

[   ] One-time 
[   ] Recurring 
[X] N/A 

Budgeted: 

[   ] Yes  [   ] No  [X] N/A 

Source of Funds:   N/A 

 

[   ] District 1 
[   ] District 2 
[   ] District 3 
[   ] District 4 
[X] City-wide 
[   ] N/A 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS:  MUD #:  N/A 

 
1.  Code Excerpt – Chapter 14, Article VI – Junked Vehicles  

 

APPROVALS 

Submitted by:   

 

William Benton/rl 
 
William Benton 
Councilor, At Large Position 
One 

Reviewed by:   
 
[   ] Exec. Dir. of Administrative Services   
[   ] Asst. City Manager of Public Services  
[   ] City Attorney     
[   ] City Engineer 
[   ] (Other) 
 

Approved for Submittal 
to City Council: 
   
 
Robert Gracia 
City Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This item has been included to allow for discussion regarding the City’s junked vehicle regulations.  An 
excerpt from the City’s Code, Chapter 14, Article VI – Junked Vehicles, has been included for your 
reference. 
 



 

 

    Page 1 

ROSENBERG CODE OF ORDINANCES  
CHAPTER 14 – HEALTH, SANITATION AND NUISANCES 
ARTICLE VI. - JUNKED VEHICLES          
FOOTNOTE(S): 
--- (5) --- 
   
Cross reference-  Buildings and building regulations, Ch. 6; licenses and business 
regulations, Ch. 16; manufactured housing, mobile homes and travel trailers and parks, 
Ch. 17; traffic and vehicles; Ch. 28. 
 
State Law reference- junked vehicles, V.T.C.A., Transportation Code § 683.071 et seq. 
 
Sec. 14-111. - Definitions.  

For the purpose of this article, the following words shall have the meanings ascribed 
to them by this section:  

Antique motor vehicle shall mean a passenger car or truck that is at least thirty-five 
(35) years old.  

Junked vehicle shall mean a vehicle that is self-propelled as defined in Section 
683.071, Transportation Code, Vernon's Texas Civil Statutes, as amended, and:  

(1) Does not have lawfully attached to it: 

a. An unexpired license plate; or 

b. A valid motor vehicle inspection certificate; 

(2) Is wrecked, dismantled or partially dismantled, or discarded; or 

(3) Is inoperable and has remained inoperable for more than: 

a. Seventy-two (72) consecutive hours, if the vehicle is on public property; or 

b. Thirty (30) consecutive days, if the vehicle is on private property. 

Motor vehicle collector shall mean a person who:  

(1) Owns one (1) or more antique or special interest vehicles; and 

(2) Acquires, collects, or disposes of antique or special interest vehicle or part of an 
antique or special interest vehicle for personal use to restore and preserve an 
antique or special interest vehicle for historic interest.  

Special interest vehicle shall mean a motor vehicle of any age that has not been 
changed from original manufacturer's specifications and, because of its historic interest, 
is being preserved by a hobbyist.  

(Ord. No. 2000-48, § 1, 11-06-00)  
 

Cross reference— Definitions and rules of construction generally, § 1-2.  



 

 

    Page 2 

 
Sec. 14-112. - Exceptions.  

The provisions of this article applicable to junked motor vehicles shall not apply to:  

(1) Any motor vehicle in operable condition specifically adapted or constructed for 
racing or operation on privately owned drag strips or raceways;  

(2) Any motor vehicle stored as the property of a member of the armed forces of the 
United States who is on active duty assignment.  

(Code 1960, § 15-27)  

Sec. 14-113. - Deemed public nuisance; declared unlawful.  

A junked vehicle that is located in a place where it is visible from a public place or 
public right-of-way is detrimental to the safety and welfare of the general public, tends to 
reduce the value of private property, invites vandalism, creates fire hazards, constitutes 
an attractive nuisance creating a hazard to the health and safety of minors, and is 
detrimental to the economic welfare of the city by producing urban blight adverse to the 
maintenance and continuing development of the city, and is a public nuisance. This 
section shall not apply with regard to:  

(1) A vehicle or part thereof which is completely enclosed within a building in a lawful 
manner where it is not visible from the street or other public or private property;  

(2) A vehicle or part thereof which is stored or parked in a lawful manner on private 
property in connection with a business of a licensed vehicle dealer or licensed 
junkyard, or that is an antique or special interest vehicle stored by a motor vehicle 
collector on the collector's property, if the vehicle or part and the outdoor storage 
area, if any, are:  

a. Maintained in an orderly manner; 

b. Not a health hazard; and 

c. Screened from ordinary public view by appropriate means, including a fence, 
rapidly growing trees, or shrubbery.  

(Code 1960, § 15-28; Ord. No. 2000-48, § 2, 11-06-00)  

Editor's note—  

Ordinance No. 2000-48, § 2, adopted Nov. 6, 2000, amended § 14-113(2) and (3) by 
replacing them with new § 14-113(2). Formerly, such subsections pertained to 
similar provisions and derived from Code 1960, § 15-28.  

State law reference— Similar provisions, V.T.C.A., Transportation Code §§ 683.072, 
683.073 and 683.077.  

Sec. 14-114. - Notice to owner to abate nuisance—When on occupied premises.  



 

 

    Page 3 

(a) Whenever a public nuisance exists on public property, on occupied premises, or on 
the public right-of-way adjacent to occupied premises within the city in violation of 
section 14-113, the city manager or his designee shall send notice to the owner of 
the junked vehicle and the owner or occupant of the premises where the nuisance 
exists if on private property, or the owner or occupant of the premises adjacent to the 
public right-of-way on which the nuisance exists. If the post office address of the last 
known registered owner of the nuisance is unknown, notice may be placed on the 
nuisance or, if the owner is located, hand delivered. The notice shall state the 
following:  

(1) The nature of the public nuisance and location; 

(2) That it must be abated and removed within ten (10) days; 

(3) That if a hearing is desired before the removal of that vehicle or vehicle part, a 
request for such hearing shall be made before the expiration of the ten-day 
period; and  

(4) That the owner shall request, either in person or in writing, the clerk of the 
municipal court to set a date and time of hearing.  

(b) The notice must be mailed, by certified mail with a five-day return requested, to the 
last known registered owner of the junked motor vehicle, any lienholder of record, 
and the owner or occupant of the private property, public property, or public right-of-
way on which the public nuisance exists. If any notice is returned undelivered by the 
United States Post Office, official action to abate the nuisance shall be continued to 
a date not earlier than the 11th day after the date of return.  

(Ord. No. 2000-48, § 3, 11-06-00)  

Editor's note—  

Ordinance No. 2000-48, § 3, adopted Nov. 6, 2000, amended § 14-114 by replacing the 
same with new § 14-114. Formerly, such section pertained to similar provisions and 
derived from Code 1960, § 15-29.  

State law reference— Similar provisions, V.T.C.A., Transportation Code, § 683.075.  

Sec. 14-115. - Same—When on unoccupied premises.  

(a) Whenever a public nuisance exists on unoccupied premises or on the public right-of-
way adjacent to the unoccupied premises within the city in violation of section 14-
113, and the owner can be found, the city manager or his designee shall send notice 
to the owner of the junked vehicle and the owner of the unoccupied premises where 
the nuisance exists if on private property, or the owner of the unoccupied premises 
adjacent to the public right-of-way on which the nuisance exists. If the post office 
address of the last known registered owner of the nuisance is unknown, notice may 
be placed on the nuisance or, if the owner is located, hand delivered. The notice shall 
state the following:  



 

 

    Page 4 

(1) The nature of the public nuisance and location; 

(2) That it must be abated and removed within ten (10) days; 

(3) That if a hearing is desired before the removal of that vehicle or vehicle part, a 
request for such hearing shall be made before expiration of the ten-day period; 
and  

(4) That the owner shall request, either in person or writing, the clerk of the municipal 
court to set a date and time of hearing.  

(b) The notice must be mailed, by certified mail with a five-day return requested, to the 
last known registered owner of the junked motor vehicle, any lienholder of record, 
and the owner of the unoccupied private property, or public property, or public right-
of-way on which the public nuisance exists. If any notice is returned undelivered by 
the United States Post Office, official action to abate the nuisance shall be continued 
to a date not earlier than the 11th day after the date of return.  

(Ord. No. 2000-48, § 4, 11-06-00)  

Editor's note—  

Ordinance No. 2000-48, § 4, adopted Nov. 6, 2000, amended § 14-115 by replacing the 
same with new § 14-115. Formerly, such section pertained to similar provisions and 
derived from Code 1960, § 15-30.  

State law reference— Similar provisions, V.T.C.A., Transportation Code § 683.075.  

Sec. 14-116. - Motor vehicle description.  

Any notice requiring the removal of a vehicle or part thereof shall include a description 
of the vehicle and the correct identification number of the vehicle, if available at the site.  

(Code 1960, § 15-31)  

Sec. 14-117. - Hearing in municipal court—Preliminaries.  

If a hearing is requested within ten (10) days after service of the notice, a public 
hearing shall be held not earlier than the 11th day after the date of the service of notice 
before the vehicle or vehicle part is removed. The hearing shall be held before the 
municipal judge.  

(Ord. No. 2000-48, § 5, 11-06-00)  

Editor's note—  

Ordinance No. 2000-48, § 5, adopted Nov. 6, 2000, amended § 14-117 by replacing the 
same with new § 14-117. Formerly, such section pertained to similar provisions and 
derived from Code 1960, § 15-32.  

State law reference— Similar provisions, V.T.C.A., Transportation Code § 683.076.  



 

 

    Page 5 

Sec. 14-118. - Same—Findings of judge; penalty.  

(a) The municipal judge shall conduct the trial brought before the municipal court and 
shall determine whether the defendant is in violation of section 14-113. Upon finding 
that the defendant is in violation of such section, the defendant shall be deemed guilty 
of a misdemeanor and subject to a fine in accordance with section 683.073 of the 
Texas Transportation Code. The municipal judge shall further order such defendant 
to remove and abate such nuisance within ten (10) days. If the defendant shall fail 
and refuse to abate or remove the nuisance, the municipal judge may issue an order 
directing the city manager or his designee to have the same removed, and the city 
manager or his designee shall take possession of the junked vehicle and remove it 
from the premises. The city manager or his designee shall thereafter dispose of the 
junked vehicle in such manner as the city council may provide.  

(b) If a trial is not requested within the ten-day period and the nuisance is not removed 
and abated by the persons notified, the municipal judge shall issue an order directing 
the city manager or his designee to have the same removed, and the city manager 
or his designee shall take possession of the junked motor vehicle and remove it from 
the premises. The city manager or his designee shall, thereafter, dispose of the 
junked motor vehicle in such manner as the city council may provide.  

(Code 1960, § 15-33)  

Sec. 14-119. - Removal—With the permission of the owner.  

If, within ten (10) days after receipt of notice from the city manager or his designee to 
abate the nuisance as herein provided, the owner of the junked motor vehicle or owner 
or occupant of the premises shall give his written permission to the city manager or his 
designee for removal of the junked motor vehicle from the premises, the giving of such 
permission shall be considered compliance with the provisions of this article.  

(Code 1960, § 15-34)  

Sec. 14-120. - Same—From public property, occupied or unoccupied premises by 
court order.  

If there is a junked motor vehicle on public property, or private premises that are 
occupied or unoccupied, or on the public right-of-way adjacent to the occupied or 
unoccupied premises, and the owner or occupant of the premises cannot be found and 
notified to remove the vehicle, then, upon a showing of facts to the municipal judge, the 
court may issue an order to the city manager or his designee to take possession of the 
junked motor vehicle and remove it. If the notice required in sections 14-114 and 14-115 
is returned undelivered by the United States Post Office, then after ten (10) days from the 
date of return, the court may issue an order to the city manager or his designee to have 
the junked motor vehicle removed, and the city manager or his designee shall take 
possession of the vehicle and remove it. The city manager or his designee shall thereafter 
dispose of the junked motor vehicle in the manner provided by the city council, consistent 
with state law, and the vehicle shall not be reconstructed or made operable.  

(Code 1960, § 15-35)  



 

 

    Page 6 

Sec. 14-121. - Disposal of junked vehicle.  

(a) If a public nuisance is not abated by the owner or occupant after notice is given in 
accordance with this article, official action shall be taken by the city to abate such 
nuisance. Junked vehicles or parts thereof may be disposed of by removal to a 
scrapyard, demolishers, or any suitable site operated by the city, which removal 
process shall be consistent with this article. A junked vehicle disposed of to a 
demolisher in accordance with this article must be transferred to such demolisher by 
a form acceptable to the state highway department. The transfer receipt must be 
listed on the demolisher's inventory list and surrendered to the state highway 
department in lieu of the certificate of title under the provision of the Texas 
Transportation Code, chapter 501.  

(b) After a vehicle has been removed pursuant to this article, it shall not be reconstructed 
or made operable by any person.  

(c) Notice shall be given to the state highway department within five (5) days after the 
date of removal identifying the vehicle or part thereof.  

(Code 1960, § 15-36)  

Sec. 14-122. - Authority to enforce.  

The chief of police or his designee may enter upon private property for the purposes 
specified in this article to examine vehicles or parts thereof and to remove or cause the 
removal of a vehicle or parts thereof declared to be a nuisance pursuant to this article. 
The municipal court shall have authority to issue all orders necessary to enforce such 
article.  

(Code 1960, § 15-37)  

Secs. 14-123—14-135. - Reserved.  



CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
 
January 27, 2015 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

2 FY2015 Tree Trimming Contract Discussion 

ITEM/MOTION 

Review and discuss the FY2015 Street Right-of-Way Tree Trimming Contract, and take action as 
necessary to direct staff. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY ELECTION DISTRICT 

Annualized Dollars: 

[  ] One-time 
[X] Recurring 
[  ]N/A 

Budgeted: 

[X] Yes  [   ] No  [   ] N/A 

Source of Funds: 

101-5022-600-6240 

[   ] District 1 
[   ] District 2 
[   ] District 3 
[X] District 4 
[   ] City-wide 
[   ] N/A 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS:  MUD #:N/A 

1. FY2010 Tree Trimming Bid Proposal 
2. City Council District Map 
3. District 4 Tree Trimming List - Draft 

 

APPROVALS 

Submitted by:   

 

John Maresh 
Assistant City Manager of 
Public Services 

Reviewed by: 
 
[X] Exec. Dir. of Administrative Services 
[   ] Asst. City Manager of Public Services 
[   ] City Attorney 
[   ] City Engineer 
[   ] (Other) 

Approved for Submittal 
to City Council: 
 
 
Robert Gracia 
City Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This item has been included on the Workshop Agenda to offer City Council the opportunity to discuss the 
FY2015 Street Right-of-Way Tree Trimming Contract. Prior to FY2010, the Public Works Department 
budget included sufficient funding to enter into an annual tree trimming contract that would generally cover 
a complete Council District. This allowed the City to trim trees throughout the entire City over a four year 
period.  Prior to the FY2010 budget reductions, Council District 4 was the next in line for tree trimming.   
 
Staff anticipates relatively few changes to the program that was provided until FY2010.  The street and tree 
list will be updated to reflect the current City Council District boundaries, which have changed since 2010. 
 
Staff recommends obtaining bids for the FY2015 Street Right-of-Way Tree Trimming Contract as described 
above. The bid proposal would be placed on a future City Council meeting Agenda for consideration and 
award. 
 



NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
 

City of Rosenberg Tree Trimming – District 4 
Bid No. 2010-02 

 
Sealed bids, in triplicate, on the original forms, will be received by the City Secretary’s Office of 
the City of Rosenberg, at 2110 Fourth Street, Rosenberg, Texas 77471, until 10:00 a.m., on 
Wednesday, April 7, 2010, and all bids will be opened and publicly read in the City Council 
Chamber at approximately 10:00 a.m., on the same date for the award of contract for: 

City of Rosenberg Tree Trimming – District 4 

 
All bids must be submitted at the time and place in the manner prescribed above.  Bids must be 
delivered in a sealed envelope with return address and clearly marked "Bid No. 2010-02 City of 
Rosenberg Tree Trimming – District 4”. The bidder’s firm name shall appear on the outside of 
the envelope. 
 
Specifications may be obtained from the Parks & Recreation Department, 3720 Airport Avenue, 
Rosenberg, Texas 77471, between the hours of 7:30 a.m., and 5:30 p.m., Monday through 
Thursday, and 8:00 a.m., and 5:00 p.m. on Friday.  
 
If the amount of the bid exceeds $50,000.00, an Official Bidder’s Bond signed by both the Surety 
and Bidder, Cashier’ Check, Certified Check, or letter of credit from an FDIC insured bank in an 
amount equal to five percent (5%) of the total bid must accompany each proposal.  Said bid 
security shall also serve as guarantee that the successful bidder will deliver all 
materials/equipment and/or services in accordance with the delivery time and specifications. 
 
The City reserves the right to reject any and all bids or accept any bid deemed advantageous to it. 
Bids shall remain valid for ninety (90) days. 
 
Linda Cernosek, City Secretary, TRMC 
 
To obtain results, copies of the bid sheets, specifications, bidding documents or you have other 
questions, please contact: 
 
City of Rosenberg 
 
Kim Johns 
Contracts Administrator 
Telephone: 832-595-3960 Fax: 832-595-3961 E-mail: kimj@ci.rosenberg.tx.us 
 



BIDDING REQUIREMENTS FOR SMALL BUSINESSES

 Cost of the 
    Project     Current Requirements

$2,000 to $5,000 Verbal Price Quotations must be obtained.  Under state law, no insurance 
specifically required except workers’ compensation coverage; however, 
tort laws limit our liability to $500,000. 

Insurance Requirements:
1) No insurance requirements by the City of Rosenberg.   

2) No bidders’ bond or cashiers’ check required as bid security. 

$5,001 to $25,000 * Written Quotations must be obtained.  Under state law, no insurance 
specifically required except workers’ compensation coverage; however, 
tort laws limit our liability to $500,000.   

Insurance Requirements:
1) A copy of the contractors’ insurance certificate will be required with 

upon award of the contract, naming the City of Rosenberg as an 
additional insured.   

2) No specific insurance limits required by City of Rosenberg.   

3) No bidders’ bond or cashiers’ check required as bid security. 

Over $25,000 * Formal bids required.  Under state law, no insurance specifically required 
except workers’ compensation coverage; however, tort laws limit our 
liability to $500,000.

Insurance Requirements:
1) For one time jobs, i.e., tree trimming, a one time mowing contract, etc. 

in excess of $25,000*, City will require the tort limit of $500,000 for 
General Liability as described below, as well as Employers’ Liability 
Coverage.  The City of Rosenberg will be named as an additional 
insured.   

2) For more significant work, i.e. infrastructure work, work which has to 
be engineered, etc., the City will require $1,000,000 in General 
Liability coverage minimum combined single-limit General Liability 
coverage per occurrence and $2,000,000 general aggregate for bodily 
injury and property damage coverage, as well as Employers’ Liability 
Coverage. If the City of Rosenberg expects the work to exceed 
$1,000,000 in cost, then these limits may be increased, depending on 
the work to be done.  The City of Rosenberg will be named as an 
additional insured.   

3) Workers’ Compensation coverage, as required by State Law.

4) Vehicle Liability Insurance coverage will be required at the same limits 
as General Liability coverage for any contractor who uses his own 
vehicles in the course of the work (not just driving to and from, but 
actually in performing the work).   



BIDDING REQUIREMENTS FOR SMALL BUSINESSES (continued)

 Cost of the 
    Project     Insurance Requirements

5) Also required for formal bids that Employer carry Employers’ Liability 
Coverage.

6) An Official Bidder’s Bond signed by the Surety and Bidder, Cashier’ 
Check, Certified Check, or letter of credit from an FDIC insured bank 
in an amount equal to five percent (5%) of the total cost of the project 
must accompany each proposal.  Said bid security shall also serve as 
guarantee that the successful bidder will deliver all 
materials/equipment and/or services in accordance with the delivery 
time and specifications. 



 

 
GENERAL SERVICES CONTRACT 

 
 

This Contract (Contract) is made between the City of Rosenberg, Texas (City), and 
Contractor.  The City and Contractor agree to the terms and conditions of this Contract, 
which consists of the following parts: 
 

I. Summary of Contract Terms 
II. Standard Contractual Provisions 
III. Special Terms and Conditions 
IV. Contract Attachments  
V. Signatures 
 

I. Summary of Contract Terms 
 
Contractor:      . 
Description of Services:   Tree Trimming – District 4 
Maximum Contract Amount:    
Length of Contract:     5 - Months 
Effective Date:     May 1, 2010 
Renewal Date:    N/A 
 
II. Standard Contractual Provisions 
 

A. Definitions 
 
Contract means this Standard Services Contract. 
 
Services means the services for which the City solicited bids or received proposals 
as described in this Contract. 
 

B. Services and Payment 
 

Contractor will furnish Services to the City in accordance with the terms and 
conditions specified in this Contract.  Contractor will bill the City for the Services 
provided at intervals of at least 30 days, except for the final billing.  The City 
shall pay Contractor for the Services in accordance with the terms of this 
Contract, but all payments of interest on overdue amounts, are subject to the 
applicable provisions of Chapter 2251 of the Government Code. 
 
 
 
 
 

 



C. Termination Provisions 
 

(1) City Termination for Convenience.  Under this paragraph, the City may 
terminate this Contract during its term at any time for the City’s own 
convenience where the Contractor is not in default by giving written 
notice to Contractor.  If the City terminates this Contract under this 
paragraph, the City will pay the Contractor for all services rendered in 
accordance with this Contract to the date of termination.   

 
(2) Termination for Default.  Either party to this Contract may terminate this 

Contract as provided in this paragraph if the other party fails to comply 
with its term.  The party alleging the default will give the other party 
notice of the default in writing, citing the terms of the Contract that have 
been breached and what action the defaulting party must take to cure the 
default.  If the party in default fails to cure the default as specified in the 
notice, the party giving the notice of default may terminate this Contract 
by written notice to the other party, specifying the date of termination.  
Termination of this Contract under this paragraph does not affect the right 
of either party to seek remedies for breach of the Contract as allowed by 
law, including any damages or costs suffered by either party.   

 
(3) Multi-Year Contracts and Funding.  If this Contract extends beyond the 

City’s fiscal year in which it becomes effective or provides for the City to 
make any payment during any of the City’s fiscal years following the 
City’s fiscal year in which this Contract becomes effective and the City 
fails to appropriate funds to make any required Contract payment for that 
successive fiscal year, then this Contract automatically terminates at the 
beginning of the first day of the City’s successive fiscal year of the 
Contract for which the City has not appropriated funds or otherwise 
provided for funds to make a required payment under the Contract.  

 
D. Liability and Indemnity.  Any provision of any attached contract document that 

limits the Contractor’s liability to the City or releases the Contractor from liability 
to the City for actual or compensatory damages, loss, or costs arising from the 
performance of this Contract or that provides for contractual indemnity by one 
party to the other party to this Contract is not applicable or effective under this 
Contract.  Except where and Additional Contract Document provided by the City 
provides otherwise, each party to this Contract is responsible for defending 
against and liable for paying any claim, suit, or judgment for damages, loss, or 
costs arising from that party’s negligent acts or omissions in the performance of 
this Contract in accordance with applicable law.  This provision does not affect 
the right of either party to this Contract who is sued by a third party for acts or 
omissions arising from this Contract to bring in the other party to this Contract as 
a third-party defendant as allowed by law. 

 
 
 



E. Assignment.  The Contractor shall not assign this Contract without the prior 
written consent of the City. 

 
F. Law Governing and Venue.  This Contract is governed by the law of the 

State of Texas and a lawsuit may only be prosecuted on this Contract in a 
court of competent jurisdiction located in or having jurisdiction in Fort Bend 
County, Texas. 

 
G. Entire Contract.  This Contract represents the entire Contract between the City 

and the Contractor and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, or 
contracts, either written or oral.  This Contract may be amended only by written 
instrument signed by both parties. 

 
H. Independent Contractor.  Contractor shall perform the work under this Contract as 

an independent contractor and not as an employee of the City.  The City has no 
right to supervise, direct, or control the Contractor or Contractor’s officers or 
employees in the means, method, or details of the work to be performed by 
Contractor under this Contract.  The City and Contractor agree that the work 
performed under this Contract is not inherently dangerous, that Contractor will 
perform the work in a workmanlike manner, and that Contractor will take proper 
care and precautions to insure the safety of Contractor’s officers and employees. 

 
I. Dispute Resolution Procedures.  The Contractor and City desire an expeditious 

means to resolve any disputes that may arise between them regarding this 
Contract.  If either party disputes any matter in relation to this Contract, the 
parties agree to try in good faith, before bringing any legal action, to settle the 
dispute by submitting the matter to mediation before a third party who will be 
selected by agreement of the parties.  The parties will each pay one-half of the 
mediator’s fees.  

 
J. Attorney’s Fees.  Should either party to this Contract bring suit against the other 

party for breach of contract or for any other cause relating to this Contract, neither 
party will seek or be entitle to an award of attorney’s fees or other costs relating to 
the suit. 

 
K. Severability.  If a court finds or rules that any part of this Contract is invalid or 

unlawful, the remainder of the Contract continues to be binding on the parties. 
 
III.   Special Terms or Conditions.  None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



IV.   Additional Contract Documents.  The following specified documents attached to 
this Contract are part of this Contract, except as follows:  any provision contained in 
any of the Contractor’s Additional Contract Documents specified below that 
conflicts with a Contract provision. 

 
A. Contractor’s Additional Contract Document: 
 1.  Insurance Certificate   
 
B. City’s Additional Contract Documents: 

1. Bid Documents & Technical Specifications 
 
V. Signatures.  By signing below, the parties agree to the terms of this Contract:      
 
 
 
CITY OF ROSENBERG:    CONTRACTOR:  
 
 
__________________________   By: _______________________________ 
Jack Hamlett        
City Manager         
          
        Title: _____________________________  
 
        Date: _____________________________   
   
                    
Attest:  City Secretary 
 
_________________________________ 

 

 
 



  1

 
 
 

Tree Trimming – District 4 
Technical Specifications 

Bid # 2010-02 
 

A.   STATEMENT 
 

1. Work consists of pruning approximately 503 trees in the District 4 area of the City 
of Rosenberg as defined on the enclosed map. The contractor will be responsible 
to trim the total number of trees within the district to the required clearance 
heights. No additional payment will be made if the total number of trees exceeds 
503. 

 
2. Prune all trees on the attached list to a clearance height of 12 feet over the curb 

and to a height of 15 feet over the center of the street. 
 

3. The contractor is to provide an urban forester to ensure all pruning practices are 
performed in aesthetically pleasing manner that corresponds with ANSI A300, 
(American National Standard Institute) pruning guidelines. 

 
4. All debris generated from pruning will be hauled off and legally disposed of by 

contractor. 
 

5. All activities performed under this contract shall conform to the most current 
published American National Standards Institute, (Z133.1) standards for safe 
arboricultural operations. 

 
6. It is understood and agreed that the Contractor has, by careful examination, 

satisfied himself as to the nature and location of the work, the conformation of the 
trees, ground and streets, the character, quality and quantity of the materials to be 
encountered, the character of equipment and facilities needed preliminary to and 
during the execution of the work, the general and local conditions, and all other 
matters which can in any way affect the work under this contract. No verbal 
agreement or conversation with any officer, agency or employee of the City, 
either before or after the execution of a contract for this project, shall affect or 
modify any of the terms or obligations required. 

 
     B.  CONTRACT TERM 
 

1. Contractor will schedule and complete requested tree trimming service from May 
l, 2010 – September 30, 2010, within a 5 month time period.   

 
2. Contractor shall provide a project schedule of the areas they are currently working 

on to the City of Rosenberg, on a weekly basis. 



  2

 
C. TREE CARE SERVICES 

 
 
1. Contractor shall have under their employ at least one employee who holds an ISA 

(International Society of Arboriculture) Certification, and Contractor shall ensure 
that ISA Certification is maintained throughout the contract period.  All work 
shall be performed or supervised on-site by an ISA Certified Arborist. 

 
2. Vehicles and equipment used to perform tree care services (e.g., aerial lift, wood 

chipper, and support vehicles) will, to the extent feasible, be positioned on paved, 
gravel, or turf surfaces.  When it is necessary to operate vehicles or equipment on 
turf or on tree root zones the Contractor shall use ground protection equipment to 
protect soil from compaction and turf damage. 

 
D.  CONTINUED, TREE CARE SERVICES 

3. When arbor culturally appropriate, the Contractor will use disinfectant on tree 
cutting equipment to prevent the spread of pathogens.  When arboriculturally 
appropriate, tree wound paint (specially formulated for this application) will be 
used to protect trees from the spread of pathogens. 

4. Where requested, the Contractor shall install tree support systems (cables and 
braces) to reduce the possibility of tree failure. Installation methods and materials 
shall reflect the most current arboricultural practices. 

E.  WASTE REMOVAL 

1. All wood waste and/or nonhazardous debris produced under this contract shall be 
removed from the job site by the Contractor the same day it is produced, unless 
specific alternative arrangements are made with the City of Rosenberg.  The 
Contractor shall collect and remove all waste twigs, sawdust and leaves that have 
been produced as a result of a tree service activity.  The Contractor shall not leave 
debris in City of Rosenberg dumpsters or in any non-Contractor owned 
dumpster. The Contractor is responsible to legally dispose of all waste/debris 
produced under this contract. Any costs related to the proper, legal disposal shall 
be considered incidental and a part of the base contract amount. The Contractor 
shall not sweep, blow, or otherwise dispose of any debris, or materials into any 
drainage facility including, but not limited; to open draining ditches, culverts, 
curb and gutters, and storm drains.  

2. If debris could be identified as hazardous waste, Contractor must contact the City 
of Rosenberg for proper hazardous waste disposal procedures. 

F.  SITE RESTORATION 



  3

1. Damage to turf or soil depressions caused by improper operation of vehicles on 
soil will be the Contractors responsibility to repair.  

G.  SUBCONTRACTING 

1. Any Contract resulting from this bid shall not be, in whole or in part, 
subcontracted, assigned, or otherwise transferred to any other Contractor without 
the prior written consent from the City of Rosenberg. 

2. Contractor must abide by all terms and conditions under this Contract. 

H.  VEHICLE & EMPLOYEE IDENTIFICATION 

1. All Contractors’ Employees, while working for the City of Rosenberg, must wear 
a clearly displayed photo identification badge or uniform showing name of 
employee and/or company logo on uniform must be clearly presentable.  Any 
identification must be provided by the Contractor at the Contractor’s cost. 

2. All Contractors’ Vehicles must have their company logo clearly marked on 
vehicle.   

I.  SAFETY 

1. Traffic control measures, proper signage and cones should be used while work is 
being performed by Contractor. All traffic control measures shall be in 
conformance with the latest requirements of the “Texas Manual on Uniform 
Traffic Control Devices (TMUCD)”. 

 
2. The Contractor shall at all times exercise reasonable precautions for the safety of 

employees and others on or near the work and shall comply with all applicable 
provisions of Federal, State and Municipal Safety Laws. All machinery and 
equipment and other physical hazards shall be guarded in accordance with the 
“Manual of Accident Prevention in Construction” of the Associated General 
Contracts of America except where incompatible with guards, safe walkways, 
ladders, bridges, gang planks and other safety devices. The safety precautions 
actually taken and their adequacy shall be the sole responsibility of the 
Contractors acting at his discretion as an independent contractor.  

 
3. The Contractor shall keep and maintain a “spill-kit” with each work crew, 

minimum 5-gallon capacity, in order to contain and mitigate any small fuel or oil 
spills that may occur while prosecuting the work. The contractor shall be 
responsible to promptly pick up and properly dispose of any contaminated 
absorbent materials. Contractor shall be solely responsible for any notification 
requirements in accordance with Federal and State laws. 

 
 
  



  4

Quote Worksheet 
  Tree Trimming 

                                                         Bid 2010-02 
 
 
Complete Sealed Bids in triplicate, must be received by 10:00 a.m. on Wednesday, April 7, 2010. 
Mailing address is 2110 4th Street, Rosenberg, TX  77471-0032.   
 
The contractor may submit in person or by mail for consideration.  The reference sheet must accompany 
the quote worksheet.  No quotes will be considered without the completed referenced document. 
 
The City reserves the right to request additional information or to meet with representatives from 
proposing organizations or individuals to discuss points in the proposal before and after submission, any 
and all of which may be used in forming a recommendation. 
 
 
 

ACCEPTANCE OF WRITTEN QUOTES:   
 
It is understood by the undersigned that  
the right is reserved by the City to reject any  
or all written quotes for this service. 
 
DATE: ________________________________  
 
BIDDER: ____________________________ 
 
BY: ________________________________ 
 
NAME: ______________________________ 
 
TITLE: ______________________________ 
 
Company’s Name 
 
BY: ________________________________ 

Signature 
 
___________________________________ 

Printed or Typed Name 
 
___________________________________ 
Street Address 
___________________________________ 
City, State & Zip Code 
___________________________________ 
Area Code and Phone 
 
ATTEST/SEAL (if a corporation): 
WITNESS (if not a corporation 
 

Quote Work consists of trimming a variety of species 
of trees at the following locations. 

 
 

5 - month 

District 4 Approximately 503 Trees    
 LUMP SUM TOTALS $ 



  5

BIDDER CERTIFICATION 
 

 
By signature affixed, the bidder certifies that neither the bidder nor the firm, corporation, 
partnership, or institution represented by the bidder, or anyone acting for such firm, corporation, 
or institution has violated the anti-trust laws of this State, codified in Section 15.01, et seq., Texas 
Business and Commerce Code, or the Federal antitrust laws, nor communicated directly or 
indirectly the bid made to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of business. 
 
Bidder has examined the specifications and has fully informed themselves as to all terms and 
conditions.  Any discrepancies or omissions from the specifications or other documents have been 
clarified with City representatives and noted on the bid proposal submitted.   
 
Bidder guarantees product offered will meet or exceed specifications identified in this bid 
invitation.  Bidders agree that the bids submitted shall remain firm for ninety (90) days following 
the date specified for the opening of bids. 
 
Bidder Must Fill in and Sign: 
 
 
NAME OF FIRM/COMPANY: __________________________________________________ 
 
 
AGENTS NAME:  ___________________________________________________ 
 
 
AGENTS TITLE:  __________________________________________________ 
 
 
MAILING ADDRESS:  ___________________________________________________ 
  
 
CITY, STATE, ZIP:  ___________________________________________________ 
 
 
AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE: ___________________________________________________ 
 
 
DATE OF BID:   ___________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  6

 BIDDER INFORMATION 
 
 
FULL LEGAL FIRM/COMPANY NAME: ___________________________________________ 
 
BUSINESS STREET ADDRESS: __________________________________________________ 
 
BUSINESS MAILING ADDRESS:  ________________________________________________ 
 
BUSINESS TELEPHONE NUMBER: ______________________________________________ 
 
BUSINESS FAX NUMBER:  _____________________________________________________ 
 
COUNTY: ____________MINORITY OWNED: _________#OF EMPLOYEES_____________ 
****************************************************************************** 
CORPORATION: ___ PARTNERSHIP: ____ PROPRIETORSHIP: ____ L.L.C. ____ L.L.P. _____ 
 
YEAR EST. _____      NO.  OF YEARS IN BUSINESS ______     FEDERAL ID NO. ___________ 
 
NATURE OF BUSINESS:________________________________________________________ 
 
PRINCIPALS: 
 
NAME: _________________________________________TITLE:________________________ 
 
NAME: _________________________________________TITLE:________________________ 
 
NAME: _________________________________________TITLE:________________________ 
 
****************************************************************************** 
 
BANK REFERENCE: ___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
NAME OF BANK OFFICER:  ____________________________________________________ 
 
 
ADDRESS / CITY / STATE / ZIP: _________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
PHONE NO: ___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  7

BIDDER CUSTOMER / CLIENT REFERENCES 
 
Bidders must establish the firm’s work experience and abilities through a minimum of three 
verifiable clients within the Fort Bend County or Greater Houston area.  References must be for 
clients with two (2) years or more successful service. 

 
 
1.  COMPANY NAME: __________________________________________________________ 
 
 
ADDRESS: ____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
CITY / STATE / ZIP: ____________________________________________________________ 
 
 
PHONE NO:  __________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
NAME OF CONTACT: _________________________________________________________ 
 
 
2.  COMPANY NAME: __________________________________________________________ 
 
 
ADDRESS: ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
CITY / STATE / ZIP: ___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
PHONE NO:__________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
NAME OF CONTACT: _________________________________________________________ 
 
 
3.  COMPANY NAME: _________________________________________________________ 
 
 
ADDRESS: ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
CITY / STATE / ZIP: ___________________________________________________________ 
 
 
PHONE NO:___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
NAME OF CONTACT: __________________________________________________________ 





































!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!! !!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!! !!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!! !!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!! !!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!!

!!

!! !!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!! !!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!! !!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!! !!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!! !!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!! !!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!! !!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!! !!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!! !!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!! !!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!!!! !!!! !!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!
!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!! !!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!! !!!!!
!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!
!!!!!

!!!!!
!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!
!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!! !!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!
!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!! !!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!

!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

¬«36

¬«36

¬«GRAND

I

BEASLEY DAMON

PLEAK
VILLAGE

MI
NO

NIT
E

BEASLEY
NEEDVILLE

36TH DIVISIONMEMORIAL HWY

§̈¦£¤96 592

£¤90A
£¤90A

£¤90A

£¤59

öõ529öõ10

@A1875

@A762

@A723

@A360

@A2218

@A359

@A361

@A2977

@A762

@A361

@A1464

@A1994

@A762

KAY
CEE

RAY
ALLEN

PULTAR
TRINITY

O

BLUME

A

HEATH
RIDGE

BRYAN
ANTON STADE

WERNECKE

HAND

SHILO
H

JOERGER

H LA
NE

LA
KE

RIM

A

E

DAILY

FENSKE

RANDON DYER

SITTING
BULL

BEASLEY WEST END

GERKEN

MUEGGE

PECAN
VIEW

PA
RK

PL
AC

E

F

STRATMAN

WILLIAMS
WAY

CHASTE

R

WAGON

REEH

KLAUKE

J
MEYER

KIMISU

RIVER
BEND

KUNZ

PLEAK

SHADYOAKS

GRUNWALD

P

BAND

FOSTER SCHOOL

COTTONWOOD
SCHOOL

H

RICE

PINE
MEADOW

BAKER

HARTLEDGE

SIM
S

MARICK

BULLRUN

MO
OR

E
BA

R

RIVER

N

BAKER

MEYER

VINCIK
EHLERT

CA
RM

EN

WALSH EVENING
SUN

ZUNKER

REESE

GAYLE

MEYER OLD
YELLER

PETRA

COTTONWOOD
CHURCH

HARDIN

GIN BOOTHLINE

TRACK

RUSTIC
PERRY

PASTURE

EVANS

MOURNING
DOVE

BLASE

KOEBLEN

LEAMAN

CR
IS

KARI

RANDON
SCHOOL

SCOTT

PSENCIK

PHILIP
EVAN

AMBER

SANDHILL

HENSON

CARDINAL

KLAUKE

POWERLINE

CREEK
BEND

STELLA

BRIDLEWOOD

WELCH

WEEKS

FINNEYVALLET

STRAZNICKY

KACAL

LEHMAN

GALLER

TO
RI

RICE
FIELD

B F
TE

RR
Y

SAGAMOREBAY

WALKER

TWIN

DORIS

JUNKER

HOPKINS

STEHLE

BE
RD

ET
T

KAMAS

RICEFIELD

MILLER

RICEFIELD

SPENCER

KOVAR

MODENA
SCHOOL

CE
CIL

RO
BIN

OW
ITZ

WILLIAMS
SCHOOL

A MEYERS

DARST

BOHACEK

BEADLE

RIVER
BROOK

LONG LANE

RANSOM

WINDING
RIVER

OLD
OAK

VACEK

JANDA

GL
EN

WO
OD

RIVER
LOOK

BOOTHLINE

HA
RL

EM

FAIRCHILDS

VICKYLYNN

HA
RL

EM

ASPENWOOD

WINNERFOSTER

PIT
TS

LAKEIVIE

BOB
WHITE

RYBAK

MCVEY

WINNER'S
CIRCLE

JOHNSON

COLONY
WEST

LAKE

OLD NEEDVILLE

FAIRCHILD

COUNTRY

MO
NT

GO
ME

RY

PISK
LAK

CADDO
LAKE

DRS

OBERRENDER

RIV
ER

FO
RE

ST

JESKE
MILDRED

FOERSTER
SCHOOL

HERITAGE
SOUTH

VOJT

CLAYHEAD

GAJEVSKY

MCFARLANE

AYLER

WILLIAMSWAY

STRATMAN

ROPER

1 Inch = 7,500 Feet

1:90,000

Election Districts
City of Rosenberg, Texas

Scale:

or

0 5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000
Feet

Election Districts
No. 1
No. 2
No. 3
No. 4

Basemap Features
Interstate
US Highway
State Highway
Farm-to-Market
Public Road
Railroad
Brazos River
Rosenberg City Limits

This product is for informational purposes and 
may not have been prepared for or be suitable 
for legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  
It does not represent an on-the-ground survey
and represents only the approximate relative
location of geographic features.

Created by: City of Rosenberg GIS - Paul M. Jones
Date Created: December 22, 2014
Original Size: 11" x 17"
K:\GIS\MAPS\City_Secretary\2014\ElectionDistricts.mxd

Å

Û

N

S

EW

Certain tracts within election districts are subject to
non-annexation agreements pursuant to Sections

43.035 and 212.172 of the Texas Local Government
Code and therefore not eligible to vote in City elections.

Those tracts are detailed in a separate exhibit,
Development Agreements Map of the City of Rosenberg.



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



DRAFT



 

CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
 
January 27, 2015 

 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

3 Traffic Calming - Speed Hump Policy Discussion 

ITEM/MOTION 

Review and discuss proposed traffic calming speed hump installation and removal policy and procedures, 
and take action as necessary to direct staff. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY ELECTION DISTRICT 

Annualized Dollars: 

[   ] One-time 
[   ] Recurring 
[X] N/A 

Budgeted: 

[   ] Yes  [   ] No  [X] N/A 

Source of Funds:  N/A 

 

[   ] District 1 
[   ] District 2 
[   ] District 3 
[   ] District 4 
[   ] City-wide 
[X] N/A 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS:  MUD #:  N/A 

1. Proposed Speed Hump Installation and Removal Policy and Procedures 
2. City Council Meeting Minute Excerpt – 11-18-14 
3. City Council Meeting Minute Excerpt – 05-27-14 

 

APPROVALS 

Submitted by:   

 

 
John Maresh 
Assistant City Manager of 
Public Services 

Reviewed by:   
 
[   ] Exec. Dir. of Administrative Services   
[   ] Asst. City Manager of Public Services  
[   ] City Attorney     
[X] City Engineer  
[   ] (Other) 

Approved for Submittal 
to City Council: 
   
 
Robert Gracia 
City Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This item has been added to the Agenda to allow City Council the opportunity to review and discuss the 
proposed speed hump installation and removal policy and procedures. 
 
Based on previous direction from City Council, staff has prepared policies and procedures regarding installation 
and removal of speed humps. Key points of the policy include: 
 

 Speed hump installation request process 
 Criteria to determine if a street is eligible for consideration of speed hump installation 
 Notification/evidence of support criteria for property owners along segments of streets under 

consideration 
 Speed hump location criteria 
 Funding criteria 
 Speed hump removal request process 
 Design  standards, construction and maintenance criteria 
 Standardized forms 

 
The policy includes a step-by-step procedure that defines the process beginning with the initial request from a 
citizen, all the way through the review and final determination that may, or may not, support the installation of 
speed humps based on criteria that will be applied equally to all requests.      
 
Should City Council direct staff to move forward, the Speed Hump Policies and Procedures will be placed on a 
future City Council Agenda for action.   
 



 

 

 

City of Rosenberg 

 

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

For 

Traffic Calming 

SPEED HUMP INSTALLATION AND REMOVAL 

 

EFFECTIVE ____________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

CITY OF ROSENBERG 
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

For 
SPEED HUMP INSTALLATION AND REMOVAL 

EFFECTIVE _____________________ 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Section                     Page Number 
 

I. Authority and Scope                  2 
 
II. Installation of Speed Humps by Citizen Request            2 

A. Request Process                  2 
B. Eligibility                    2 
C. Diversion Issue                  2 
D. Notification/Evidence of Support              3 
E. Speed Hump Location                4 
F. Funding Criteria                  5 
G. Cost Responsibility                  6 

 
III. Removal of Speed Humps by Maintenance or Construction Activities      6 

 
IV. Removal of Speed Humps by Citizen Request            7 

A. Request Process                  7 
B. Eligibility                    7 
C. Notification/Evidence of Support Petitions            8 
D. Removal Determination                8 
E. Funding Criteria                  9 
F. Cost Responsibility                  9 

 
V. Design Standards, Construction, and Maintenance          9 
 
Appendix A – Application Packet for Requesting the Installation of Speed Humps    A ‐1 
 
Appendix B – Recount Policy                B ‐1 
 
Appendix C – Placement of Speed Hump Warning Signs Policy        C ‐ 1 
 
Appendix D‐ Application Packet for Requesting the Removal of Speed Humps    D ‐1 
 
Appendix E – Definitions                  E ‐1 
 
Appendix F – Speed Hump Installation Notification/Evidence of Support Petition    F ‐1 
 
Appendix G – Speed Hump Removal Notification/Evidence of Support Petition    G ‐1 



City of Rosenberg 
Policies and Procedures for Speed Hump Installation and Removal 

EFFECTIVE _________________ 

 

2 

 

I.  Authority and Scope 
 
A. The City Manager, or his/her designated representative issues and administrates this policy. 
 
B. This  policy  is  effective  immediately  and  retroactively  to  all  currently  active  speed  hump 

requests. 
 
C. The Rosenberg City Council  retains  the authority  to  install or  remove  speed humps  for  cause 

independent of this policy. 
 

II.  Installation of Speed Humps by Citizen Request 
 

A. Request Process 
 

1. The  initial  request  for  the  installation  of  speed  humps must  originate  from  a  resident, 
business,  school,  homeowner’s  association,  or  other  entity  whose  property  abuts  the 
requested street segment. The requestor must be willing to act as the primary contact and 
take  responsibility  for  notification  and  the  compilation  of  evidence  of  support  for  their 
requested street should it be determined eligible. A written request should be submitted to: 

 
City of Rosenberg 
City Manager 
Speed Hump Program 
2110 4th Street 
Rosenberg, Texas 77471 

 
2. The  request  should  identify  the  street  and  blocks  where  the  applicant(s)  desires  speed 

humps,  and  the name,  address, phone number  and  e‐mail  address  for  a  contact  person. 
Submitted segments may be divided or otherwise revised at the sole determination of the 
City Manager. 

 
3. See Appendix A for a copy of the application packet for requesting the installation of speed 

humps. 
 

B. Eligibility  
 

1. The  Public  Works  Director  will  conduct  the  necessary  traffic  engineering  studies.  A 
determination of  the  street’s eligibility  for  the  speed hump  installation will be made  in a 
timely manner, based on the following policy criteria: 

 
a.  The street may not be classified as an Arterial or a Collector. 
b.  The street may not be designated Primary Emergency Response Route. 
c.  There may be no more than one moving lane of traffic in each direction. 
d.  The street must have a speed limit of 30 mph or less. 
e.  The street must be paved prior to construction of the speed humps. 



City of Rosenberg 
Policies and Procedures for Speed Hump Installation and Removal 

EFFECTIVE _________________ 

 

3 

 

f.  The sum of traffic volumes for both directions must be less than 5,000 vehicles per day 
and more than 500 vehicles per day. 

g.  The measured 85th percentile speed must exceed the prima facie speed limit by 5 miles 
per hour or more  in a 24‐hour study period OR there must be three or more reported 
speed‐related  accidents within  the  street  segment  during  the  last  twelve months  of 
recorded data. 

 
2. Other factors such as, but not  limited to, alignment, grades, and sight distances may affect 

consideration for eligibility. 
 
3. If  the  street  is  determined  not  to  be  eligible  for  speed  humps,  the  applicant(s) will  be 

notified in writing of the reason for ineligibility. 
 
4. Requests for recounts will be considered following the adopted policy  located  in Appendix 

B. Approved recounts will occur as soon as possible and preferably within the active request 
round, unless circumstances indicate otherwise. 

 
5. A request for enforcement of the speed  limit will be sent to Rosenberg Police Department 

for those segments that are ineligible for consideration for speed humps but where the 85th 
percentile speed exceeds the speed limit. This referral will include a copy of the traffic study 
indicating the speed and volume profiles for the segment on an hourly basis. 
 

C. Diversion Issue 
 
1.  In the preliminary studies of land use and petition area, probable shifts in traffic routes will 

be  identified.  In  these  areas,  prior  to  the  construction  of  speed  humps  along  a  street 
segment, traffic studies will be conducted along adjacent alternate routes to provide base 
data to document any occurrence of traffic shifts. 

 
2.   If  the  adjacent  alternate  route  is  requested  to be  considered  for  speed humps  at  a  later 

date, it will be considered as all other requested segments are considered. The results of the 
first  and  second  study  will  be  compared.  If  the  segment  is  eligible  for  speed  hump 
consideration and any  increases  in either  traffic  speeds or volumes are  shown, additional 
consideration  for  those  increases will  be  given  in  the  funding  process.  Any  decreases  in 
volume or speed will not penalize the segment’s consideration for funding. 

 
D. Notification/Evidence of Support 

 
1.   If the street is determined to be eligible for consideration, the City Manager will define the 

approximate speed hump  location(s) on a map, which will be provided  to  the applicant(s) 
with a petition of notification on which to gather evidence of support. Notification/evidence 
of support must be submitted on forms produced by the City Manager or exact duplicates of 
it. Documents that do not include placement information will not be accepted as valid under 
any circumstances. 

   
2.  The petition area will be determined by  the City Manager and will  include primarily  those 

properties facing or abutting the street segment on which a speed hump is proposed to be 



City of Rosenberg 
Policies and Procedures for Speed Hump Installation and Removal 

EFFECTIVE _________________ 

 

4 

 

located. A property will be considered a part of the petition area  if  its access/egress route 
requires traveling over existing or proposed speed humps. 

        
3.  Notification/evidence  of  support  petitions must  be  completed  and  returned  to  the  City 

Manager  by  the  established  deadline  for  the  segment  to  be  considered  in  the  ranking 
process. There must be at least 75% of the landowners in support of the installation request 
in order to proceed with the review process. Requests without petitions will be considered 
incomplete. 

 
4.   Each  property  identified  by  the  City Manager  as  lying within  the  petition  area must  be 

represented on the petition by signature. A statement of exception must be submitted by 
the applicant(s) explaining  the absence of any property not so represented. Requests  that 
do not account for all properties will be considered incomplete. 

 
5.   Property managers or  landowner signature may be considered as approval  for all units of 

multi‐family properties of ten or more units. The manager or  landowner must be properly 
identified on the petition form. 

 
6.  Any person who wishes  to alter  their  indication of  support on  the petition  form after  its 

submittal must do so by  individual  letter of request to the City Manager. No such request 
will affect funding that has already been awarded. 

 
7.  A complete listing of all active requests may be posted on the City’s web site. 

   
E.     Speed Hump Location 

 
1.  The Public Works Director will determine the final location of all speed humps according to 

the guidelines in these Policies and Procedures and in accordance with current engineering 
principles. 
   
a.  Speed  humps will  generally  be  placed  approximately  300  to  500  feet  apart.    Other 

spacing may be used based upon engineering judgment. 
b.  A speed hump shall not be located in front of a driveway or within an intersection. 
c.  Speed humps should generally not be located within 200 feet of a traffic signal or STOP 

sign, or within 50 feet of an uncontrolled intersection. 
d.  Speed humps should not be  located over, or contain manholes, water valves or other 

subsurface utilities access features. 
e.  Speed humps should not be located adjacent to fire hydrants. 
f.  For humps located near drainage inlets, the hump should be placed just downstream of 

the inlet. If this is not feasible, special treatment may be considered for drainage. 
g.  To  improve  nighttime  visibility,  coordinating  hump  location with  existing  or  planned 

street lighting should be considered. 
h.  Preferences of requesters or property owners adjacent to speed hump locations will not 

be considered unless unique or special circumstances exist that warrant relocation. The 
City Manager will consider these circumstances on a case‐by‐case basis. 

   



City of Rosenberg 
Policies and Procedures for Speed Hump Installation and Removal 

EFFECTIVE _________________ 

 

5 

 

2.   Traffic  control  consisting  of  signs  and  markings  shall  be  installed  in  accordance  with 
Appendix C to advise roadway users of the presence of speed humps. 

 
3.  Any  relocation of constructed  speed humps at  citizen’s  request must be approved by  the 

City Manager and relocated at the requesting citizen’s cost unless the City Manager deems 
that  a public purpose  is  fulfilled  by  the  removal.  The  requester must  secure  evidence of 
support by properties adjacent to both the existing, or losing, location and the proposed, or 
gaining, location. 

 
F.    Funding Criteria 

 
1.  Funds  for  speed hump  installation will be determined by prorating  total available  funding 

between  number  of  humps  eligible  for  installation  and  number  of  humps  eligible  for 
removal. 

 
2.  A street segment’s ranking score is determined by summing the following factors. 

   
a.  Average Daily Traffic  Factor – The  total number of  vehicles  traveling on  the  roadway 

where speed humps are desired will be one basis of point assignment. These vehicular 
volume numbers will be based on traffic counts taken by the Public Works Director. A 
point value is obtained by dividing the total number of vehicles by 100. If the segment of 
road exceeds 1,000 feet, the average of multiple counts shall be used. 

    Example: 1,500 total vehicles on the roadway 
    1,500/100 = 15.0 points 
b.  Speeding Factor – Equals the percentage of vehicles  in a 24‐hour period exceeding the 

speed limit by 5 miles per hour or more. 
c.  Automobile  Accident  Factor  –  Equals  one  point  for  each  reported  speeding‐related 

accident  (except auto/pedestrian or auto/bicycle) occurring within the segment during 
the most  recent 12‐month period  for which  accident  records  are  available. Accidents 
that occur at the intersection of the requested street and designated thoroughfares and 
collectors or at signalized intersections are not counted. 

d.  Auto/Pedestrian  or  Auto/Bicycle  Accident  Factor  –  Equals  5  points  for  each  reported 
auto/pedestrian or auto/bicycle occurring within  the  segment during  the most  recent 
12‐month period  for which accident  records are available. Accidents  that occur at  the 
intersection of the requested street and designated thoroughfares and collectors or at 
signalized intersections are not counted. 

e.  CD  Factor  –  Three  points  if  the  segment  is  within  a  neighborhood  targeted  for 
revitalization by the Community Development Division and eligible to receive CDBG and 
Home funds. 

f.  Institution  Factor  –  Equal  to  five points per  institution. An  institution  is  considered  a 
school or park within 1,000 ft of the segment. 

g.  Absence  of  Sidewalks  Factor  –  Equal  to  five  points  if  no  sidewalks  exist  within  the 
segment or portions of the segment. A segment or portion of a segment with a sidewalk 
on at least one side of the street is considered to have sidewalks. 

 



City of Rosenberg 
Policies and Procedures for Speed Hump Installation and Removal 

EFFECTIVE _________________ 

 

6 

 

3.   The  street  segment with  the  higher  ranking  score will  be  considered  to  have  the  higher 
priority. The  street with  the earliest  application date will have  the higher priority  among 
streets with the same ranking score. 

 
G.     Cost Responsibility 

   
1. The City will be responsible for all costs associated with design and installation of the funded 

speed humps.  
 
2. A street that does not receive speed hump  installation funding approval will automatically 

be  considered  in  the  following  cycles,  for  a maximum  of  two  (2)  additional  years  (five 
funding  cycles). After  the  two year  time period,  the  request expires.  Incomplete  requests 
that  later become  complete within  the  two year  limit will not  receive additional  time  for 
funding consideration. A new written request may be submitted subject to the policies and 
procedures  in  effect  at  the  time  of  request.  Each  request  requires  a  separate  and 
independent evidence of support petition. 

 
3. These procedures do not preclude the City Manager from completing any eligible requests 

out  of  ranking  order  under  certain  circumstances.  These  include,  but  are  not  limited  to, 
alternative  funds  becoming  available  or  complementing  projects,  maintenance  projects 
and/or capital improvement projects initiated during the year. 

 
4.  Private Funding 

 
a. Once a street  is determined to be eligible for speed hump  installation, but not funded 

under  the  designated  annual  budget,  installation  may  be  expedited  by  voluntary 
payment of all costs.  Street segments must present a notification/ evidence of support 
petition exhibiting a 75% or greater support factor. 

b.  Requests  for  a  private  funding  estimate  of  cost must  be made  in writing  to  the  City 
Manager. 

c.  Voluntary payments must be submitted in one payment for the full cost of installation, 
according  to  the  cost  statement  provided  to  the  applicant(s).  Only  certified  checks, 
cashier’s  checks,  or  money  orders  made  payable  to  the  City  of  Rosenberg  will  be 
accepted. No partial payments will be accepted. 

d.  Upon receipt of payment of the cost, the humps will be installed no later than the next 
fiscal year as scheduling permits. 

 
III.  Removal of Speed Humps by Maintenance or Construction Activities 
 

A.  Any speed hump that is fully removed during the course of publicly funded construction  or 
maintenance  activities  shall  be  reinstalled  upon  completion  of  that  activity  at  City  expense 
during  the  next  available  funding  cycle  utilizing  available  funds  allocated  for  installation  and 
removal of speed humps. 

 
B.  Speed  humps  that  are  partially  removed  or  damaged  during  the  course  of  publicly  funded 

construction or maintenance activities shall be repaired or reconstructed to original conditions 
upon completion of those activities at City expense by the forces conducting those activities.  



City of Rosenberg 
Policies and Procedures for Speed Hump Installation and Removal 

EFFECTIVE _________________ 

 

7 

 

 
C.  Any  speed hump  that  is  fully or partially  removed or damaged during  the  course of privately 

funded maintenance or construction shall be reinstalled upon completed of  those activities at 
the expense of the private constructor. 

 
D.  The  replacement  of  speed  humps  completely  removed  through  the  above  actions  is  not 

automatic,  but  contingent  upon  a  finding  by  the  City  Manager  that  the  street  meets  the 
eligibility requirements in Section II.B.1.a through II.B.1.g. 

 
IV.  Removal of Speed Humps by Citizen Request 
 

A.  Request Process 
 

1.   Citizens may request that a street segment be reviewed for the possible removal of some or 
all  of  the  existing  speed  humps.  The  City  Manager  must  receive  removal  requests  by 
currently published biannual deadlines. Written  requests  for  reviewing street segments  to 
consider removal of speed humps should be submitted to: 

 
City of Rosenberg 
City Manager 
Speed Hump Program 
2110 4th Street 
Rosenberg, Texas 77471 

 
2.   Each request must include a name, address, phone number and e‐mail address of a resident 

or business representative from the affected area who agrees to be the contact person. The 
contact person will receive all correspondence and be responsible for gathering signatures 
on the request for review petition. See Appendix D for a copy of the application packet for 
requesting the removal of speed humps. An application form can also be obtained from the 
City Manager. Each contact person must acknowledge designation by signing the request. 

 
3.  The  request  for  reviewing  street  segments  to  consider  removal  of  speed  humps  must 

originate from a resident and/or a business, school, or other entity whose property is within 
the affected area. The affected area will be determined by the City Manager and will include 
primarily those properties facing or abutting the street segment on which speed humps are 
located. A property will be  considered part of  the affected area only  if  the access/egress 
route  requires  traveling  over  existing  speed  humps  which  are  being  requested  to  be 
removed. 
 

B.  Eligibility 
 

1.  Upon written request, the City Manager will determine eligibility for removal consideration 
by these factors. 

 
a.  The request must not be a duplicate request. 
b.  The removal segment must correspond with the installation segment. 



City of Rosenberg 
Policies and Procedures for Speed Hump Installation and Removal 

EFFECTIVE _________________ 

 

8 

 

c.  The  speed humps have been  in place  for  at  least one  year OR  at  least one  year has 
elapsed since any previous speed hump removal occurred. 

 
C.  Notification/Evidence of Support 

 
1.   Following the determination of eligibility for a segment to be considered for hump removal, 

a map of the affected area will be developed and sent to the requester. Also included will be 
a petition  form  that will be used  to document  support  for  the  review of  the  segment  for 
possible removal of speed humps. All properties within the affected area must be accounted 
for, either by signature and  indication of preference (in favor of review, oppose review, go 
with majority) or by written statement by the requester  indicating why a specific property 
was not represented. There must be at least 75% evidence of support for review to further 
the process. 

 
2.  Requests with either no petition or with a petition that does not account for all properties 

will  be  considered  incomplete  and will  not  further  the  process.  The  City Manager must 
receive speed hump removal review petitions by currently published biannual deadlines. 

 
D. Removal Determination 

 
1.   At the City Manager’s discretion, depending on the  length of the segment and the number 

of humps present, removal of speed humps along a segment may be considered in multiple 
phases. For all phases, an engineering review will be performed to determine which, if any, 
of the speed humps are to be removed. 

 
2.  The  removal  application  process  does  not  invite  nor  accept  recommendations  from 

requesters  regarding  which  speed  humps  should  or  should  not  be  removed.  Based  on 
engineering judgment, the results of the review process may recommend removal of none, 
some, or all of the speed humps. Factors that are considered for review may include, but are 
not limited to: 

 
a.  Existing speed hump locations and spacing 
b.  STOP/YIELD signs or traffic signals along the segment 
c.  Historical and existing traffic speed and volume information 
d.  Accident history 
e.  Presence or absence of sidewalks, schools and parks 

 
3.  If speed studies conducted along the requested segment or portions of the segment reveal 

the 85th percentile speed  is greater than or equal to three miles per hour over the posted 
speed limit, then no hump removal will occur along the segment or portion of the segment 
represented by the study. 

 
4. Following the removal of any speed humps, the segment may be reconsidered for additional 

hump removal after one year. A new request must be submitted to have a segment receive 
consideration  for  additional  removal.  Each  phase  is  subject  to  the  same  requirements, 
policies,  and  procedures  in  effect  at  the  time  of  the  request,  and  requires  separate  and 
independent petitions. 



City of Rosenberg 
Policies and Procedures for Speed Hump Installation and Removal 

EFFECTIVE _________________ 

 

9 

 

 
E.  Funding Criteria 

 
1. Funds  for  speed  hump  removal  will  be  determined  by  prorating  total  available  funding 

between  number  of  humps  eligible  for  installation  and  number  of  humps  eligible  for 
removal. 

 
2.  Selection of humps funded for removal will be on a first come basis, based on the date of 

receipt of the completed petition. 
 

F.  Cost Responsibility 
 

1.   The  City  is  responsible  for  all  costs  associated with  removal  of  speed  humps  under  this 
process. Removal will occur during the regularly scheduled speed hump construction cycles. 
Private funding of approved removal is possible with 75% support for review. 

 
2.  If a  request  for  removal  is denied,  the  segment may not be  reconsidered  for at  least  two 

years unless  there  is a  substantial  change  in  conditions.  If any  request  for  removal  is not 
funded  after  five  funding  cycles,  the  request  expires.  Subsequent  requests  to  consider 
removal  will  follow  the  defined  process  for  removal  in  effect  at  the  same  time  of  the 
request. Each request requires separate and independent petitions. 

 
V.  Design Standards, Construction, and Maintenance 
 

A.  The Public Works Director shall prepare and maintain current design standards and installation 
and removal procedures for speed humps in accordance with this policy. 

 
B.  Design and construction or removal of the speed humps and associated pavement markings and 

signs will be the responsibility of the Public Works Director. 
 
D. The City Public Works Department will maintain the speed humps and all related features. 

 



Appendix A 
 

A‐ 1 

 

City of Rosenberg 
 

Speed Hump Program 
                  2110 4th Street Rosenberg, TX 77471   

Phone (832) 595‐3310 Fax (832) 595‐3311 
 
 

General Description 
 
The speed hump is a gentle rise and fall of pavement surface placed in the roadway to reduce the speed 
of vehicles. Speed humps have proven to be successful in reducing speed while allowing safe operation 
of the vehicle. 
 
The following is a summary of the process for speed hump allocation and installation. 
 

Step One: Request for Study 
 
A request can be made by either a neighborhood or business association, by a single resident or a group 
of residents, or by a business located on the street requesting speed humps. Each request must include 
a  name,  address  and  phone  number  of  a  resident  from  the  requested  street who  agrees  to  be  the 
contact person.  The  contact person will  receive  all  correspondence  and be  responsible  for  gathering 
evidence of support. Each contact person must acknowledge designation by signing the request. Written 
requests  should be  submitted  to  the City Manager at  the above address. An application  form can be 
obtained  from  the City Manager. A  request may not  automatically be withdrawn  from  consideration 
once a traffic study determines the street to be eligible for speed humps. 
 
The request must be for a specific street segment and should include at least the following information: 
 

 The requested street name 

 The boundary of the street segment 

 Name of contact person 

 Address of contact person 

 Daytime phone number and cell phone number of contact person 

 E‐mail address of contact person 

 Signature of contact person 
 
Do not submit petitions or other evidence of support with your request. Petitions or  letters of support 
gathered  prior  to  the  eligibility  determinations without  the  preliminary  placement maps will  not  be 
accepted.  Requests will  be  evaluated  on  a  biannual  schedule  (page A‐3),  however  the  schedule  and 
process do not preclude the City Manager from installing warranted speed humps when and where it is 
deemed necessary outside the procedures of this program. 
 
 
 
 
 



Appendix A 
 

A‐ 2 

 

 

Step Two: Eligibility 
 
In order for a request to qualify for consideration, the street must meet criteria set by the City Manager. 
It  is the responsibility of the Public Works Director to conduct traffic studies to determine  if the street 
segment meets the following criteria: 
 

 The street may not be classified as an Arterial or a Collector. 

 The street may not be designated Primary Emergency Response Route. 

 There must be no more than one moving lane of traffic in each direction. 

 The street must have a speed limit of 30 mph or less. 

 The street must be paved prior to construction of the speed humps. 

 The  sum of  traffic  volumes  for both directions must be  less  than 5,000  vehicles per day  and 
more than 500 vehicles per day. 

 The measured 85th percentile speed must exceed the prima facie speed limit by 5 miles per hour 
or more  in a 24‐hour study OR there must be three or more reported speed related accidents 
within the street segment during the last twelve months of recorded data. 

 
Other factors such as, but not limited to, alignments, grades and sight distances may also be evaluated. 
 
Only  those  requests  meeting  all  the  eligibility  requirements  will  proceed.  If  a  request  is  denied, 
applicants will not be able  to  reapply  to  the  speed hump program  for  the  following  two years unless 
there is considerable change in conditions. 
 
All traffic counts will be scheduled during regular commuter periods unless a specific weekend problem 
is noted in the request. 
 

Step Three: Level of Support 
 
If  the  City Manager  determines  the  street  to  be  eligible,  the  City Manager will  provide  preliminary 
placement maps to the contact person. The contact person is encouraged to gather and present support 
from the community in the form of petitions from residents, landowners or businesses facing or having 
lot frontage on the street segment on which a speed hump is proposed to be located. There must be at 
least 75% of the landowners within the petition area in support of the installation request. 
 
Petitions or  letters of  support gathered prior  to  the eligibility determinations without  the preliminary 
placement maps will not be considered. 
 

Step Four: Speed Hump Location 
 
It is the responsibility of the Public Works Director to determine the final location of all speed humps in 
accordance with current engineering principles, however: 
 

 Speed humps will usually be placed between 300 feet to 500 feet apart. 

 A speed hump shall not be located in front of a driveway or within an intersection. 



Appendix A 
 

A‐ 3 

 

 Speed humps should not be  located within 200 feet of a traffic signal or a STOP sign, or within 
50 feet of an uncontrolled intersection. 

 
Step Five: Prioritization 
 
The Public Works Director will prioritize requests according to the following ranking criteria: 
 

 Average Daily Traffic 

 Speeding 

 Automobile Accident 

 Auto/Pedestrian or Auto/Bicycle Accident 

 Community Development 

 Institution 

 Absence of Sidewalks 
 

Step Six: Funding 
 
An annual budget will be established for construction of approved projects. Projects will be scheduled 
for construction by priority ranking as funding permits within the established budget. 
 
Projects  may  be  completed,  out  of  ranking  order,  if  alternative  funds  become  available  or  if 
complementing maintenance and/or capital improvement projects are initiated during the year. 
 
Approved projects that do not receive funding in the current year will be automatically considered for 2 
additional years. All projects will be re‐prioritized by ranking on a biannual basis. 
 
An eligible project may be expedited  if the applicants choose to pay for 100% of the estimated cost of 
the  installation.  Expedited  projects  will  be  constructed  no  later  than  the  next  fiscal  year  following 
deposit of funding. 
 

Speed Hump Program Schedule 
 
Process Step                    Round “A”        Round “B” 

Deadline for request submission April 1 October 1

Planning and eligibility determinations 
completed by City Manager, Preliminary 
placement maps and petition forms 
prepared by City Manager 

June 1 December 1

Final date to submit evidence of support August 1 February 1

Ranking of eligible requests for City 
funding 

September 1 March 1

Construction begins on approved projects October April 



 

 

City of Rosenberg 
 

Speed Hump Program 
                  2110 4th Street Rosenberg, TX 77471   

Phone (832) 595‐3310 Fax (832) 595‐3311 
 

For policy Effective ____________ 

Request for Speed Hump Study 
The following is a request for a speed hump study. Please feel free to submit this form as a formal request. Each 
request must  contain  the  completed  information  as  indicated  in  both  Part  A  and  Part  B.  The  request will  be 
processed according to the procedures detailed in the Speed Hump Program Policies and Procedures. 
 
A. Street Study Information 
Each request must provide the name of the street on which a study is requested, and the boundaries of the street 
segment. Traffic studies will be conducted only within the boundaries  indicated. Please use streets for boundary 
limits, not block ranges. 
  Requested Street:              
 
 
  From:                 
   
 
  To:                 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B. Contact Person Information 
Each request must provide a contact person who lives on the requested street within the study area boundary. The 
contact  person  will  receive  all  correspondence  and  be  responsible  for  gathering  evidence  of  support  when 
requested. 
 
Name:                     
 
Address:                  
 
 
City:          Zip Code:              Daytime Ph #:      
     
 
 
Cell Ph#:                                                                                      E‐Mail Address:  
 
I agree  to be  the  contact person  for  the above  request.  I understand  that a  request may not automatically be 
withdrawn from consideration once a traffic study determines the street to be eligible for speed humps. 
 
Signature of Applicant:                   Date:    

 
 
 

A‐4 



Appendix B 

B ‐ 1 

 

 
Recount Policy 

 
I.  Traffic count data that is reviewed and believed to be questionable or invalid by the public works staff 

for any of the reasons listed below will be scheduled for a recount. This recount will occur as soon as 
possible and preferably within the current funding round, unless circumstances indicate otherwise. 

 
II.  Segments that have been determined  ineligible due to traffic data may be re‐evaluated upon written 

request, by conducting another  traffic  survey. Those  segments  receiving approval  to be  reevaluated 
will  be  reassigned  from  their  original  application  cycle  to  the  next  available  application  cycle.  The 
reassigned requests will conform to the policies and procedures in effect for that funding cycle. 

 
III.  Citizen  initiated  requests  for  recounts must  be  submitted  in  writing.  These  letters  should  clearly 

express  specific  reasons  why  the  original  count  should  be  considered  invalid.  If  approved,  these 
recounts will be scheduled during the following funding round. 

 
IV.  If  it  is  determined  through  engineering  judgment  that  the  original  count  did  not  represent  normal 

conditions and the recount does represent normal conditions, then the data gathered by the recount 
will be used to evaluate the need for speed humps. 

 
  A.  The following presents some of the valid reasons to authorize a recount: 
 

1.  Incomplete or missing data. 
2.  Unusually high or low 85th percentile speeds. 
3.  Failure or malfunction of the counting equipment. 
4.  Relatively  large proportions of  large vehicles (trucks, buses, etc.) to passenger cars  in 

the data. 
5.  Relatively high percentages of “unknown” or “other” vehicle classifications in the data. 
6.  Counter  deployed  at  times  and/or  locations  other  than  those  specified  by  the 

requestor. 
7.  Counter deployed during non‐school times at locations influence by school traffic. 
8.  Vandalism or deliberate influence. (This aspect is discussed in more detail below). 
9.  Other similar considerations. 

 
B.  The  following  reasons  require  additional  records  or  field  research  before  a  recount  can  be 

authorized: 
 

1.   Counter deployed at a location typically bypassed by a significant portion of traffic. 
2.  Counter deployed relatively close to a traffic control device (STOP sign, traffic signals, 

etc.) a horizontal or vertical curve, or other physical feature that could be reasonably 
expected to influence motorists’ behavior on the subject street segment. 

3.  Construction  or  maintenance  activities  occurring  in  the  vicinity  of  the  deployed 
counter  that can be  reasonably expected  to  influence  travel patterns on  the  subject 
street segment. 

4.  Counter deployed during a special even that can be reasonably expected to influence 
travel patterns on the subject street segment. 

5.  Counters deployed at or near  school bus  stops,  commercial  loading  zones,  frequent 
on‐street  parking  locations,  and  other  similar  locations  that  can  be  reasonably 



Appendix B 

B ‐ 2 

 

expected to influence travel patterns and/or motorists’ behavior on the subject street 
segment. 

6.  Speed  humps  or  other  mitigation  devices  installed  on  adjacent  streets  after  the 
original  study  that  can  be  reasonably  expected  to  influence  travel  patterns  on  the 
subject street segment. 

7.  Physical modification  of  the  roadways  (reconstruction,  overlays,  traffic  signals,  etc.) 
changes  in  land use  (apartments,  shopping  centers,  theaters, etc.) and other  similar 
factors  that  can be  reasonably expected  to  influence  travel patterns on  the  subject 
street segment. 

    8.  Other similar considerations.  
 
  C.  The following are generally considered invalid reasons to authorize a recount: 
 

1. Fear of accidents or incidents occurring. 
2. Recent accidents or  incidents that are not part of a discernible patter of occurrence.  

Only those accidents or  incidents reported to Rosenberg Police Department or other 
comparable public agency will be considered in determining if a trend exists. 

3. Unspecified doubt in the validity of the study. 
4. Requests  for  recounts  to  be  conducted  during  a  specified  time  period  that  can 

reasonably be considered part of a special event. 
5. Unsupported  allegations  of  traffic  patterns  being  deliberately  and  significantly 

influenced by individuals or groups. 
6. Other similar considerations. 

 
V.  Traffic  count  locations  that  are  vandalized  (tubes  disconnected or  cut,  counter damaged or  stolen, 

etc.) or deliberately  influenced  (vehicles parked on or near tubes, multiple passes across tubes, etc.) 
will be recounted in the following manner: 

 
A.  A first recount will occur automatically. Consideration will be given to moving the counter to a 

more secure location. 
 

B.  If the counter is vandalized or deliberately influenced during the first recount, the study will be 
suspended and  the  requester  contacted and  informed of  the adverse occurrence. A  second 
recount will be authorized only if assurances are secured from the requester that a resident of 
the street segment will closely monitor  the counter.  If no assurances are  received,  then  the 
request is considered ineligible and may not be reconsidered for two years. 

 
C.  If  the  counter  is  vandalized  or  deliberately  influenced  during  the  second  recount,  then  the 

request is considered ineligible and may not be reconsidered for two years. 
 
 

 
 
 



Appendix C 
 

C ‐ 1 

 

 
PLACEMENT OF SPEED HUMP WARNING SIGNS POLICY 

 
 
I.  Speed hump warning signs shall be required to warn motorists of the presence of speed humps 

along a street segment. However, due to aesthetic consideration of the neighborhoods in which 
they are erected, the number of signs installed shall be minimized where possible. 

 
II.  The general design, layout, and placement of the speed hump warning sign assemblies shall be 

in  conformance with  the  Texas Manual  on Uniform  Traffic  Control Devices  (TMUTCD),  latest 
version. 

 
III.  The following guidelines shall be considered when locating and installing these signs. 
 

A.  A speed hump warning sign shall be installed in advance of the first speed hump in the 
segment  for  each  direction  of  travel.  No  other  speed  hump  warning  signs  shall  be 
required for motorists traveling along the segment provided adequate warning is given 
to motorists prior to their entering the segment. 

 
B.  The installation of speed hump warning signs at or in advance of each speed hump along 

the subject segment shall not be required other than as described herein. 
 

C.  If  a new  segment of  speed humps  is  installed  abutting  an  existing  segment,  the  two 
segments may be considered as one segment and signed as a single segment. Existing 
signs may be removed so as to incorporate the two segments into a single segment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Appendix D 
 

D ‐ 1 

 

 

City of Rosenberg 
 

Speed Hump Program ‐ 
REMOVAL 

                2110 4th Street Rosenberg, TX 77471   
Phone (832) 595‐3310 Fax (832) 595‐3311 

   

General Description 
 
The speed hump is a gentle rise and fall of pavement surface placed in the roadway to reduce the speed 
of vehicles. Speed humps have proven to be successful in reducing speed while allowing safe operation 
of  the  vehicle. However,  citizens who believe  the humps  are not  required  along  a  street  for  various 
reasons may request the humps be considered for removal. The following  is a summary of the process 
for speed hump removal. 
 

Step One: Request for a Removal Study 
 
A request can be made by either a neighborhood or business association, by a single resident or a group 
of residents, or by a business located on the street requesting speed humps. Each request must include 
a  name,  address  and  phone  number  of  a  resident  from  the  requested  street who  agrees  to  be  the 
contact person.  The  contact person will  receive  all  correspondence  and be  responsible  for  gathering 
evidence of support. Each contact person must acknowledge designation by signing the request. Written 
requests  should be  submitted  to  the City Manager at  the above address. An application  form can be 
obtained  from  the City Manager. A  request may not  automatically be withdrawn  from  consideration 
once a traffic study determines the street to be eligible for removal of speed humps. 
 
The request must be for a specific street segment and should include at least the following information: 
 

 The requested street name 

 The boundary of the street segment 

 Name of contact person 

 Address of contact person 

 Daytime phone number and cell phone number of contact person 

 E‐mail address of contact person 

 Signature of contact person 
 
Do not submit petitions or other evidence of support with your request. Petitions or  letters of support 
gathered  prior  to  the  eligibility  determinations without  the  preliminary  placement maps will  not  be 
accepted. Requests will  be  evaluated  on  a  biannual  schedule  (page D‐3),  however  the  schedule  and 
process do not preclude the City Manager from removing speed humps when and where  it  is deemed 
necessary outside the procedure of this program. 
 
 
 



Appendix D 
 

D ‐ 2 

 

 
 
 

Step Two: Eligibility 
 
In order for a request to qualify for consideration, the street must meet criteria set by the Public Works 
Director: 

 The request must not be a duplicate request. 

 The removal segment must correspond with the installation segment. 

 The speed humps must have been in place for at least one year. 
 
Only  those  requests  meeting  all  the  eligibility  requirements  will  proceed.  If  a  request  is  denied, 
applicants will not be able to reapply to the Speed Hump Removal Program for the following two years 
unless there is considerable change in conditions. 
 
All traffic counts will be scheduled during regular commuter periods unless a specific weekend problem 
is noted in the request. 

 
Step Three: Level of Support 
 
If  the  City Manager  determines  the  speed  humps  along  a  street  segment  to  be  eligible  for  removal 
consideration, the City Manager will provide existing  location maps to the contact person. The contact 
person  is  encouraged  to  gather  and  present  support  from  the  community  in  the  form  of  petition(s) 
(which are provided by the City Manager) from residents, landowners, or businesses facing or having lot 
frontage on the street segment where speed humps are being considered for removal. There must be at 
least 75% evidence of support for review to further the process. Requests with either no petition or with 
a petition that does not account for all properties will be considered incomplete and will not further in 
the process. 
 
Petitions  or  letters  of  support  gathered  prior  to  the  removal  eligibility  determinations  without  the 
existing location maps will not be considered. 

 
Step Four: Removal Consideration Factors 
 
The removal application process does not invite nor accept recommendations from requestors regarding 
which speed humps should or should not be removed. Based on engineering  judgment,  the results of 
the review process may recommend removal of none, some, or all of the speed humps. Factors that are 
considered for review may include, but are not limited to: 
 

 Existing speed hump locations and spacing 

 STOP/YIELD signs or traffic signals along the segment 

 Historical and existing traffic speed and volume information 

 Accident History 

 Presence or absence of sidewalks, schools and parks 
 



Appendix D 
 

D ‐ 3 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Step Five: Funding 
 
Funds for speed hump removal will be determined by prorating total available funding between number 
of humps eligible for installation and number of humps eligible for removal. Selection of humps funded 
for  removal will  be  on  a  first  come  basis,  based  on  the  date  of  receipt  of  the  completed  petition. 
Removal will occur during  the regularly scheduled speed hump construction cycles. Private  funding of 
approved removal is possible with 75% support for review. 
 

Speed Hump Removal Program Schedule 
 

Process Step            Round “A”    Round “B” 

Deadline for removal request submission April 1 October 1

Planning and eligibility determinations 
completed by City Manager, Petition area maps 
and petition forms prepared by City Manager 

May 1 November 1

Final date to submit evidence of support July 1 January 1

Ranking of eligible requests for City Funding September 1  March 1

Construction begins on approved projects October April

 
 

 
 
 



 

 

City of Rosenberg 
 

Speed Hump Program ‐ REMOVAL 
              2110 4th Street Rosenberg, TX 77471   

Phone (832) 595‐3310 Fax (832) 595‐3311 
     

For policy effective ____________ 

Request for Removal Study 
 
This is a request for removing speed humps. Please feel free to submit this form as a formal request. Each request 
must  contain  the  completed  information as  indicated  in both Part A and Part B. The  request will be processed 
according to the procedures detailed in the Speed Hump Program Policies and Procedures. 
 
A. Street Study Information 
Each request must provide the name of the street on which a study is requested, and the boundaries of the street 
segment. Traffic studies will be conducted only within the boundaries  indicated. Please use streets for boundary 
limits, not block ranges. 
  Requested Street:              
 
 
  From:                 
   
 
  To:                 
 
 
 
 
 
B. Contact Person Information 
Each request must provide a contact person who lives on the requested street within the study area boundary. The 
contact  person  will  receive  all  correspondence  and  be  responsible  for  gathering  evidence  of  support  when 
requested. 
 
Name:                     
 
Address:                  
 
 
City:          Zip Code:              Daytime Ph #:      
     
 
 
Cell Ph#:                                                                                      E‐Mail Address:  
 
I agree to be the contact person for the above request. I understand that a request may not automatically be 
withdrawn from consideration once a traffic study determines the street to be eligible for speed humps. 
 
Signature of Applicant:                   Date:    

 
 
 
 

D‐4 



Appendix E 
 

E ‐ 1 

 

 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
City Engineer: the City Engineer or designated representatives. 
 
City Manager: the City Manager or designated representatives. 
 
Institution: a park or  school  that  could  reasonably be anticipated  to generate volumes of pedestrian 
traffic. 
 
Arterial or Collector: any street designated respectively as an Arterial or Collector on the City’s Master 
Thoroughfare Plan. 
 
Primary Emergency Response Route: any street segment designated by Rosenberg Police Department 
or Rosenberg Fire Department as an emergency access route. 
 
Public Works Director: the Public Works Director or designated representatives. 
 
Residential:  any  single  family  residence,  townhouse,  duplex,  triplex,  quadruplex,  condominium,  or 
apartment complex or any other structures used as dwelling units. 
 
Speed Hump:  a  geometric  design  feature  of  a  roadway,  consisting  of  a  raised  area  in  the  roadway 
pavement surface extending transversely across the travel way, whose primary purpose is to reduce the 
speed of  vehicles  traveling  along  that  roadway.  The base of  the hump  varies  in width  and  gradually 
slopes to a maximum height of approximately 3 to 4 inches. Speed Cushions and Speed Tables may also 
be utilized for this purpose. 
 
Speed Criteria: the speed which is 5 miles per hour (mph) over the posted or prima facie speed limit for 
a given street. 
 
85th percentile speed: the measured speed at or below which 85% of vehicles are traveling. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Appendix F 
 

F ‐ 1 

 

 

SPEED HUMP INSTALLATION  
NOTIFICATION/EVIDENCE OF SUPPORT PETITION 

 
We, the undersigned homeowners of _____________________________________ Subdivision, located 
__________________________________________________  request  that  the City of Rosenberg  install 
speed humps  in our subdivision, at  locations approved by  the City Manager. We understand  that  this 
petition  only  represents  our  desire  for  speed  humps  and  does  not  warrant  or  guarantee  their 
installation.  It  is  further understood that all  in  the affected area as defined by the City Manager must 
complete this form, by affixing their address, whether renter or owner, name, signature, and whether 
support installation or not on the list below. All submitted names are subject to verification. 
 
Speed humps will more than likely cause: modification in traffic speeds and volumes; increased levels 
of noise at the hump locations; aesthetic changes to the subdivision streets due to the speed humps, 
and the associated signs and pavement markings; and impacts on street maintenance and emergency 
vehicle response times. 
 
Please list only one signature per residence/property owner. 
 

Address 
Renter or 
Owner 

Name 
(Printed) 

Signature 
Installation 
Support 
Yes 

Installation 
Support 

No 

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         



Appendix F 
 

F ‐ 2 

 

 

Notification/Evidence of Support Petition 
 

Please list only one signature per residence/property owner. 
 

Address 
Renter or 
Owner 

Name 
(Printed) 

Signature 
Installation 
Support 
Yes 

Installation 
Support 

No 

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 
 
DO NOT SIGN this PETITION if you have NOT READ the front page of this PETITION. 
 
Please do not use any other form. This sheet may be reproduced if necessary. 
 
 



Appendix G 
 

G ‐ 1 

 

 

SPEED HUMP REMOVAL 
NOTIFICATION/EVIDENCE OF SUPPORT PETITION 

 
We, the undersigned homeowners of _____________________________________ Subdivision, located 
__________________________________________________ request that the City of Rosenberg remove 
speed humps  in our subdivision, at  locations approved by  the City Manager. We understand  that  this 
petition only represents our desire for removal of speed humps and does not warrant or guarantee their 
removal.  It  is  further  understood  that  all  in  the  affected  area  as  defined  by  the  City Manager must 
complete this form, by affixing their address, whether renter or owner, name, signature, and whether 
support removal or not on the list below. All submitted names are subject to verification. 
 
 
Please list only one signature per residence/property owner. 
 

Address 
Renter or 
Owner 

Name 
(Printed) 

Signature 
Installation 
Support 
Yes 

Installation 
Support 

No 

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 



Appendix G 
 

G ‐ 2 

 

 

Notification/Evidence of Support Petition 
 

Please list only one signature per residence/property owner. 
 

Address 
Renter or 
Owenr 

Name 
(Printed) 

Signature 
Removal 
Support 
Yes 

Removal 
Support 

No 

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 

         

 
 
 
DO NOT SIGN this PETITION if you have NOT READ the front page of this PETITION. 
 
Please do not use any other form. This sheet may be reproduced if necessary. 

 



• 

• 
5. 

• 

Livable Centers Case Study (Study) for the U.S. gOA corridor. The purpose of the Study is to facilitate a 
revitalization plan for the Highway gOA corridor through Rosenberg .. 

The H-GAC Board of Directors has approved a contract with Morris Architects to facilitate the 
Rosenberg/U.S 90A Livable Centers Study. Representatives of Morris Architects will attend the 
meeting to brief City Council on the Study and answer any questions regarding same. 

Key discussion points: 
• Randall Malik, Economic Development Director gave an overview of the item. 
• Armandina Chapa with Morris Architects provided City Council with a brief on the Study and 

was available to answer questions. 

Questions: 
Q: Who will fund the Livable Centers Study? 
A: The Rosenberg Development Corporation, Houston Galveston Area Council and West Fort Bend 
Management District. 
Q: With one-way streets how will we go to the public? How often will we get a status report? 
A: With a Workshop to involve stakeholders and clients and through utility bills and the website. 
Q: It needs to be reiterated what Livable Centers are so we can get good input. 
A: Yes, that will be done and the northern boundary is the railroad track and Avenue H. 
Q: What are Livable Centers? 
A: Livable Centers are walk able, mixed-use places that provide multi modal transportation options, 
improve environmental quality and promote economic developments. If there is accessible retail to 
shoppers you keep people from driving so far. 
Q: How does this intertwine with our Comprehensive Plan? 
A: We wrote our Comprehensive Plan at the overall transportation plan and with new development but 
there will be coordination on this plan. 
Q: We don't want Avenue H and I to be a direct route for all the traffic to come through Rosenberg. 
When will this stop, when you reach Task 6 is it over then? 
A: The proposal we wrote does not want people to just speed thorough Rosenberg. 
Q: Are you aware we are going to have buses going through? 
A: Yes. 
Q: Does it incorporate all of gOA? 
A: This boundary was defined but they will look beyond the boundaries of Avenue H. 

• No action was taken on the item. 

REVIEW AND DISCUSS THE PROPOSED INSTALLATION OF POLE MOUNTED RADAR SPEED 
SIGNS ON CERTAIN STREETS WITHIN THE CITY OF ROSENBERG, AND TAKE ACTION AS 
NECESSARY. 
Executive Summary: This Agenda item was requested to allow City Council an opportunity to discuss 
potential locations for the installation of pole mounted radar speed signs, and to direct staff accordingly. 
The following three (3) locations were submitted by Councilor Benton for consideration: 

1. Grunwald Heights Boulevard; 
2. Wagon Wheel Lane; and, 
3. Walnut Glen Lane in the Oaks of Rosenberg. 

Additionally, staff has identified the following four (4) locations for such signage at the recommendation 
of the Police Department: 

4. Lane Drive; 
5. Southgate Drive; 
6. Jones Street; and, 
7. J. Meyer Road. 

The equipment cost is approximately $3,800.00 per sign. The labor and equipment to install and 
maintain each sign is provided by the Public Works Department. 

Key discussion points: 
• Discussion was held regarding the proposed installation of pole mounted radar on the streets 

as outlined in the Executive Summary and if funding is available the addition of Callendar 
Street and Elizabeth Street. 

• Councilor Grigar expressed concern regarding no criteria for these devices and stressed the 

PAGE 4 of6 * REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES * NOVEMBER 18, 2014 

sherrin
Rectangle



• 

• 

• 

need to outline a criterion. 
• Councilor Barta stated she would like to visit with the citizens on Wagon Wheel Lane and the 

two roads that lead out to Spacek Road. Residents in the Oaks of Rosenberg want speed 
humps and officer presence . 

Questions: 
Q: What were the recommendations the Police Department made for the signs based on? 
A: Some were cut through roads, such as Southgate and Lane Drive. There is a high volume of 
pedestrian traffic and school zone. There are a lot of traffic complaints in this area. 
Q: Who should these people call to complain? 
A: They should call Citizens Relations and the Police Department. 
Q: What criteria are speed humps based on? 
A: We have to have the HOA's permission. Other items such as distance from the intersection, etc, has 
to be considered. 

Action: Councilor Benton made a motion, seconded by Councilor Barta to approve installation of pole 
mounted radar speed signs on Grunwald Heights Boulevard, Wagon Wheel Lane, Walnut Glen Lane in 
the Oaks of Rosenberg, Lane Drive, Jones Street, Brooks Street, and Callendar Street. 

Further discussion: 
• Joyce Vasut, Executive Director of Administrative Services stated we have some funding for 

traffic calming ($30,OOO). We have spent approximately $8,000. Fourteen signs at $4,000 each 
will cost $56,000. There is $21,000 currently in the budget. 

• Robert Gracia, City Manager stated staff will have to come back with a budget adjustment 
before we can do this. 

Upon voting - Yeses: Mayor Pro Tem McConathy, Councilors Benton and Pena. No: Councilor 
Grigar. Abstention: Councilor Barta. 

Further discussion: 
• Councilor Grigar stated he would vote for it if it were amended and some sort of generic criteria 

added. 

Amended Motion: Councilor Grigar amended the motion, seconded by Councilor Barta to add criteria 
for the areas and for all future radar signs. The motion carried by a unanimous vote. 

6. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON RESOLUTION NO. R-1877, A RESOLUTION 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE, FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE CITY, AN 
ADVANCE FUNDING AGREEMENT FOR BRIDGE REPLACEMENT OR REHABILITATION OFF 
THE STATE SYSTEM, BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE STATE OF TEXAS, ACTING BY 
AND THROUGH THE TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, REGARDING A PROJECT 
GENERALLY DESCRIBED AS REPLACEMENT OF THE W. FAIRGROUNDS ROAD BRIDGE OVER 
SEABOURNE CREEK. 
Executive Summary: Recently, the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT) submitted 
documentation regarding replacement of the W. Fairgrounds Road bridge over Seabourne Creek 
utilizing the "Off-System Bridge Replacement Program" (Program). City Council previously approved 
Resolution No. R-1843 on August 19, 2014, and Resolution No. R-1855 on September 02, 2014, 
authorizing participation in the Program and to utilize the "PartiCipation Waived" form of project 
agreement. The local "Participation Waived" project will consist of the improvements to add drainage 
capacity to the Louise Street bridge over Dry Creek. 

The Advanced Funding Agreement, attached as Exhibit "A" to Resolution No. R-1877, should now be 
the last document required to formalize the bridge replacement project. 

Staff recommends approval of Resolution No. R-1877, which will authorize the City Manager to execute 
the Advance Funding Agreement for Bridge Replacement of Rehabilitation Off the State System for 
replacement of the W. Fairgrounds Road bridge over Seabourne Creek . 

Key discussion points: 
• John Maresh, Assistant City Manager of Public Services read the Executive Summary. 

PAGE 5 of6" REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES" NOVEMBER 18, 2014 

sherrin
Rectangle



Main Street Program was indentified in the Economic Development Strategic Plan. Staff has submitted a

Letter of Intent to apply for the Main Street designation, and now seeks direction on moving forward with the
application process.

The deadline to apply for the Texas Main Street Program is July 31, 2014. The application process involves
coordination between the business community, City staff, and downtown stakeholders.   Staff recommends
approval to move forward with the application process.

Key discussion points:
Randall Malik gave a brief overview of the item and introduced Debra Drescher, State Coordinator
for the Texas Main Street Program.

Debra Drescher provided a handout to Council and reviewed the program.

Questions/Comments:

Councilor McConathy asked who is responsible for the hiring and what that responsibility is.
Debra Drescher stated job descriptions can be provided. They carry out the public functions of the
program to focus on small business development, institute a calendar of events and oversee them.
It is what you want to get out of the program. You are the employee' s boss and they can report to
the Economic Development Director, Planning Director or City Manager. That decision is up to
Council.

Councilor McConathy asked if this has been presented to the Rosenberg Development Corporation
RDC).

Randall Malik stated this was discussed before he was here but it was part of the strategic plan for
the RDC.

Councilor McConathy stated there should have been some discussion for this.

Randall Malik explained this is an application process and is funded through RDC funds, City funds,
private funds and HOT tax. It is a combination of funds.

Councilor Benton asked what the salary would be and is the position strictly used for the Program.
Debra Drescher stated they could provide a suggested salary but there is not a set number. Yes,
they will do economic development and tourism work and support what is already setup.
Councilor BoIf stated she is excited about it and would like to know more regarding the cost and she
would like it to move forward.

Debra Drescher stated Brenham, LaGrange and Sealy are in the program and she suggested a
manager could come speak about the program to provide more detail.

Councilor Pena stated it is an excellent idea. He thinks the manager should be accountable to City
Council or the City Manager. It would go out into residential areas as well.
Randall Malik explained it is a commercial based program. A map highlighting the area was included
in the packet and a few residents would be in this.

Mayor Morales stated the Main Street Program is more flexible today. He has seen the results in
Brenham and LaGrange.

The general consensus of Council was to move forward and look at more detail of the program.
No action was taken on the item.

2. REVIEW AND DISCUSS PROPOSED TRAFFIC CALMING POLICIES,  AND TAKE ACTION AS
NECESSARY TO DIRECT STAFF.

Executive Summary: This item has been added to the Agenda to allow City Council the opportunity to
discuss traffic calming measures that may be needed in certain areas to improve mobility safety by reducing
cut-through traffic and reduce excessive vehicular speeds on neighborhood streets.

Key discussion points:

Councilor Benton asked Council what direction they would like to take regarding this item.
Travis Tanner,  Executive Director Community Development explained the scope for the
Comprehensive Plan would look at the streets and the dates to back up the information for the
areas.

After a brief discussion by Council, Robert Gracia, City Manager recommended that during the

0
process of approving the Comprehensive Plan calming devices be looked at as a plan city wide and
what that study would provide.  The areas in the City that have been identified that are of concern
can be addressed immediately and we need to wait for the assessment of the entire City.
Mayor Morales stated he likes that plan.
No action was taken on the item.

PAGE 2 of 10* CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP MEETING MINUTES* MAY 27, 2014

sherrin
Rectangle



CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
 
January 27, 2015 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

4 
Proposed Amendments to Chapter 6, Articles XVI and XVII, Code of 
Ordinances Discussion 

ITEM/MOTION 

Review and discuss proposed amendments to Code of Ordinances, Chapter 6, Articles XVI and XVII, 
regarding Parking Lot and Single-Family Residential Dwelling Standards, and take action as necessary to 
direct staff. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY ELECTION DISTRICT 

Annualized Dollars: 

[   ] One-time 
[   ] Recurring 
[X] N/A 

Budgeted: 

[X] Yes  [   ] No  [   ] N/A 

Source of Funds:  N/A 

 

[   ] District 1 
[   ] District 2 
[   ] District 3 
[   ] District 4 
[X] City-wide 
[   ] N/A 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS:  MUD #:  N/A 

 
1. Draft Ordinance Amendments – Chapter 6, Articles XVI and XVII - Redlined 
2. City Council Meeting Minute Excerpt – 04-22-14 
3. Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt – 10-15-14  
4. Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt – 07-16-14  
5. Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt – 06-18-14 
6. Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt – 05-21-14 
7. Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt – 04-24-13 

 

APPROVALS 

Submitted by:   

 

Travis Tanner, AICP 
Executive Director of 
Community Development 
 

Reviewed by:   
 
[   ] Exec. Dir. of Administrative Services 
[   ] Asst. City Manager of Public Services   
[   ] City Attorney     
[   ] City Engineer 
[   ] (Other) 
 

Approved for Submittal 
to City Council: 
  
 
Robert Gracia 
City Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This Agenda item addresses a number of issues in Chapter 6 that have been discussed over a relatively 
long period of time.  Staff believed the best approach would be to cover them all in one Agenda item since 
all proposed amendments are found under the same Chapter.  Should City Council direct staff to move 
forward, one (1) Ordinance addressing all of the proposed amendments described below could be placed 
on a future Agenda for City Council’s consideration. 
 
Over the last several months, the Planning Commission (Commission) and City Council have at different 
times discussed a number of possible amendments to Chapter 6 of the Code of Ordinances.  Chapter 6 
relates to Building and Building Regulations and the proposed amendments in particular would address 
Parking Lot and Single-Family Residential Dwelling Standards (Articles XVI and XVII, respectively).  
Following is an overview of the proposed amendments, and attached are draft revisions to the Ordinance 
for City Council’s consideration. 
 
On April 22, 2014, City Council directed staff to research and discuss with the Commission the regulation 
of parking in residential yards as well as outside display of merchandise.  These items were discussed by 
the Commission on May 21, 2014, and the Commission recommended approval of amendments to the 
City’s existing ordinances on these matters on June 18, 2014.  The ordinance amendments in question are 



similar to the City of Sugar Land’s ordinance (as directed by City Council) and generally provide for the 
following: 

 No parking of vehicles in residential front yards except on improved surfaces or preexisting 
unimproved driveways; 

 Strict limitations on outside display of merchandise (i.e., 25’ setback from right-of-way, not located 
in parking areas, owned by the owner or lessee of the property, and not greater than ten (10) 
percent of the building area), with the exception of certain types of merchandise such as 
landscaping materials and vehicles. 

 
Further, on July 16, 2014, the Commission received a presentation from the Texas Masonry Council 
explaining the benefits of masonry planning policies or ordinances requiring a minimum percentage of 
masonry on residential and/or nonresidential structures.  The Commission had previously expressed 
interest in such policies, noting the amount of HardiPlank siding on homes in new subdivisions and 
concerns regarding maintenance.  Among the benefits of masonry planning policies that were discussed 
were that masonry products generally are lower maintenance, result in increased home values, are more 
durable, and provide for more predictability of development or architectural control.  That being said, on 
October 15, 2014, the Commission recommended approval to City Council of an Ordinance Amendment 
that would require homes on lots platted after the effective date of the Ordinance to generally have a 
minimum of seventy-five (75) percent masonry exterior.  Staff has further refined the proposed amendment 
to seventy-five (75) percent masonry exterior for one (1) story structures and fifty (50) percent for two (2) 
stories and above.  If adopted, this would not apply to existing subdivisions or to homes built in the 
Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ); it would only apply to homes constructed in future developments within 
the City. 
 
Finally, the Commission has previously discussed and made recommendations to City Council regarding 
the Parking Lot Standards and Specifications related to parking spaces abutting public streets.  The City’s 
Ordinance currently allows for businesses with twenty-five (25) or fewer parking spaces to have spaces 
that back into the public right-of-way.  The Commission believed, and staff concurs, that it would be in the 
best interest of the City from a mobility and safety standpoint to not have future parking spaces abutting 
the right-of-way.  Existing businesses would be “grandfathered” in relation to this requirement.  This also 
would not apply to the Downtown area.  The Commission recommended approval of this proposed 
Amendment on April 24, 2013. 
 
Staff is requesting direction from City Council on these proposed amendments to Chapter 6 of the Code of 
Ordinances. 
 



 

 

Page 1 of 11 

 

CODE OF ORDINANCES 
CHAPTER 6 – BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS 
ARTICLE XVI. - PARKING LOT STANDARDS AND SPECIFICATIONS     
 

Sec. 6-416.1 - Definitions. 

Improved surface shall mean an area used for the parking of vehicles that is 
paved with asphalt or concrete. 

Merchandise shall mean items for sale, not including landscaping materials, tires, 
vehicles, or other motorized equipment. 

Unimproved driveway shall mean an area used for the parking of vehicles that is 
constructed of gravel, crushed stone, or other equivalent materials. 

Sec. 6-416.2 - Off-street parking regulations.  

It is the intent of this section to ensure that adequate off-street parking is provided.  

(1) Required off-street parking spaces should be on the same lot, tract, parcel, or 
premises as the use being served.  

(2) Any existing use that is enlarged, structurally altered, or remodeled to the extent 
of increasing or changing the use by more than fifty (50) percent as it existed at 
the effective date of this article shall be accompanied by off-street parking for 
the entire building, or use in accordance with the required off-street parking 
regulations set forth in the section 6-418, schedule of parking regulations. 
Exemption may be permitted for a business that existed prior to the passage of 
this ordinance and requires less than twenty-five (25) spaces, and is rebuilt due 
to fire, storm, or other acts of God.  

(3) Existing parking spaces may not be used to satisfy additional off-street parking 
requirements unless the existing spaces proposed for use in meeting the 
requirements of the associated use exceed the number of spaces required for 
the building or use for which the existing spaces are associated. All parking 
associated with a building or use from which the spaces are drawn must meet 
all requirements of this article.  

(4) Off-street parking areas shall provide parking spaces with a minimum stall width 
of nine (9) feet (as measured from centerline to centerline) and a minimum 
length of twenty (20) feet. Off-street parking spaces shall be clearly marked with 
striping to indicate the location of the individual spaces.  

(5) All parking and paving areas shall meet the following setbacks: 

(a) Parking and paving areas shall be setback a minimum of ten (10) feet 
from any property line that abuts a street right-of-way or an access 
easement as defined in Article 1, of Chapter 25, Subdivisions, Section 
25-1.  



 

 

Page 2 of 11 

 

(b) Parking and paving areas shall be setback a minimum of five (5) feet 
from any side property line. For corner lots, parking and paving areas 
shall provide the minimum five (5) foot setback on both interior side 
yards, regardless of whether one (1) yard is considered a rear yard.  

(c) There shall be no parking or paving setback on the rear of a lot. Parking 
spaces abutting an adjoining property line in the rear shall be provided 
with wheel guards or bumper guards located so that no part of a normally 
parking vehicle shall extend beyond the property line.  

(d) Parking and paving areas shall be setback a minimum of five (5) feet 
from any alley. 

(e) For interior side property lines in commercial developments with shared 
parking, no setback from the interior property lines are required.  

(f) Single family residential parking shall be exempt from these setback 
requirements. 

(g) Nonconforming parking and paving areas:  

i. Parking and paving areas which are in existence on the effective 
date of this ordinance, and which are nonconforming as it relates to 
the provisions of subsection 6-416.2(5), may be repaired or 
renovated provided that repairs or renovations do not exceed fifty 
(50) percent of the replacement cost of the parking or paving area as 
determined by two (2) or more independent estimates from licensed 
contractors.  

ii. Repairs or renovations exceeding fifty (50) percent of the 
replacement cost of a nonconforming parking or paving area must 
result in conformance with subsection 6-416.2(5).  

(6) Approval of the parking area layout and design of all off-street parking areas 
shall be by the planning director or such designee. The planning director or 
such designee shall determine that spaces provided are useable and that the 
circulation pattern of the area is adequate.  

(7) All off-street parking areas shall be paved with a permanent all-weather surface 
of asphalt concrete or Portland cement concrete approved by the planning 
director.  

(8) All off-street parking areas within commercial or multi-family projects shall be 
provided with exterior lighting, which meets the following minimum standards:  

(a) Proper illumination shall be provided for safety, which at a minimum, 
shall be the equivalent of one-foot candle average of illumination 
throughout the parking area. In commercial parking lots, lights should be 
operable at a minimum of one (1) hour before the business is open to a 
period at least one (1) hour after the business has closed.  

(b) All lighting shall be on a time clock or photo sensor system. 



 

 

Page 3 of 11 

 

(c) All lighting shall be designed to confine direct rays to the premises. No 
spill over beyond the property line shall be permitted, except onto public 
thoroughfares provided, however, that such light shall not cause hazard 
to motorists.  

(9) Access to parking areas for commercial or multi-family projects shall be 
provided as follows:  

(a) Two-way access driveways shall have a width of no less than twenty (20) 
feet nor greater than forty-four (44) feet. In cases where one-way access 
drives are approved, a minimum width of twelve (12) feet is required. 

(b) The parking area shall be designed so that a vehicle within the parking 
area will not have to enter a public street to move from one (1) location to 
any other location within the parking area. 

(c) Under no circumstances will spaces be approved that require a vehicle 
to back into a public right-of-way. (Businesses requiring twenty-five (25) 
spaces or less are exempt from this provision.) 

(d) This section relating to access for commercial or multi-family projects 
shall not be applicable for single-family residential parking requirements.  

(e) Items “b” and “c” above shall not apply to changes in the use of, or 
additions to, existing buildings where the following criteria are met: 

i. The business requires twenty-five (25) or fewer spaces overall. 

ii. The change of use or building addition does not increase the 
required number of parking spaces by greater than fifty (50) 
percent. 

(10) Access to parking area for single-family residential units shall be provided as 
follows: 

i. The driveway shall be a minimum nine (9) feet wide and connect to all 
parking areas including garage.  

ii. The driveway can permit a vehicle to safely back into a public right-of-
way. 

iii. The access drive may be of like material of the city street, but in no case 
less than an asphalt material. It does not have to match the parking 
space material.  

iv. The design criteria shall be approved by the building official and be 
properly tied into the city street.  

iv.v. It shall be unlawful for any person to park a motor vehicle, recreational 
vehicle, or trailer within the front yard of a residential property upon any 
surface other than an improved surface except on an unimproved 
driveway in existence prior to the effective date of this ordinance. 

(11) The Downtown Area, as defined in this chapter, shall be exempt from the 
parking regulations set forth in this article.  



 

 

Page 4 of 11 

 

Sec. 6-417. - Off-street parking landscaping (twenty-five spaces or more).  

(1) All areas, except the downtown area, that are used for parking shall conform to 
the minimum landscaping requirements of this section.  

(a) Greater than 25 spaces:  Parking lots shall have open landscaped areas 
that are equal to but not less than ten (10) percent of the parking areas 
and drives in the parking area. The required area may be used as island, 
perimeter landscaping, or in any combination. A minimum of fifty (50) 
percent of the required landscaped area must be used as islands.  

(b) Twenty-five (25) or fewer spaces:  Landscaped areas greater than or 
equal to ten (10) percent of the parking areas and drives in the parking 
area shall be required adjoining the parking area. 

(1)(2) Landscaping in the right-of-way shall be permitted subject to the approval 
of the planning director. Credit for up to fifty (50) percent of the minimum 
landscaping area requirement shall be allowed for landscaping of the street right-
of-way.  

(2)(3) Off-street parking areas (including loading docks, access roads and 
drives) that are adjacent to an area used for residential purposes may require 
screening by means of a six-foot wall or opaque fence, which shall be erected 
and maintained along the property line to provide visual screening. It shall be 
necessary to show all planting areas drawn to scale and all plants and trees 
within shall be clearly located and labeled on-site plans for development 
regulated by this article.  

(3)(4) Landscaping areas shall be protected from vehicular encroachment by 
curbs or wheel stops.  

(4)(5) Landscaping shall consist of a combination of such materials as grasses, 
groundcover, shrubs, vines, hedges, trees, or other such materials. Grasses and 
groundcover alone shall not constitute adequate landscaping.  

(5)(6) Visibility at intersections. On a corner lot, no structure shall be erected or 
constructed, and no vegetation shall be planted and allowed to grow, in such a 
manner as to impede vision between a height of two (2) feet and eight (8) feet 
above the centerline grades of the intersecting streets, in the triangular area 
bounded by the intersecting street lines and a line joining points along said street 
lines twenty (20) feet from the point of their intersection.  

Sec. 6-418. - Schedule of parking regulations.  

Computing parking space requirements:  

(1) Where a fraction of an off-street parking space greater than or equal to one-half 
(0.5) is required pursuant to the table below, a full parking space shall be 
provided.  

(2) For uses not mentioned in the table below or for which the category of use is 
uncertain, the planning director shall determine the most appropriate equivalent 



 

 

Page 5 of 11 

 

from the subsequent table. An applicant unsatisfied with the planning director's 
decision may make an appeal to the planning and zoning commission.  

* GLA is the "gross leasable floor area".  

Use Unit Minimum Number 
Spaces: Unit 

Single-family residential Dwelling unit 2:1 dwelling unit 

Townhouse residential Dwelling unit 2.5:1 dwelling unit 

Duplex residential Duplex 4 covered spaces per duplex 

General office (includes banks 
and savings and loans)  

1,000 square 
feet of GLA* 

5:1000 square feet 

General retail (under 400,000) 1,000 square 
feet of GLA*  

5:1000 square feet 

General retail (400,000 and 
over) 

1,000 square 
feet of GLA*  

5:1000 square feet 

Fast-food eating (with or without 
drive-through, without table 
service) 

1,000 square 
feet of GLA* 

10:1,000 square feet 

Restaurants and cafeterias (sit 
down eating with table service, 
without bar) 

1,000 square 
feet of GLA* 

12:1,000 square feet 

Restaurants and cafeterias (sit 
down eating with table service, 
with bar) 

1,000 square 
feet of GLA* 

15:1,000 square feet 

Bars, nightclubs and taverns 1,000 square 
feet of GLA* 

20:1,000 square feet 



 

 

Page 6 of 11 

 

Churches, cinemas, meeting 
rooms, and places of public 
assembly (with fixed seating) 

Seats  1:4 seats 

Places of public assembly 
(without fixed seating) 

Areas of 
assembly 

1:45 square feet 

Places of assembly for 
elementary age children 
(without fixed seating) 

Areas of 
assembly 

1:650 square feet 

Hospitals (acute care) Beds 1:1 bed 

Hospitals, nursing homes, 
assisted living (chronic care) 

Beds 1:3 beds 

Light manufacturing 1,000 square 
feet of GLA* 

2:1,000 square feet 

Wholesaling, warehousing, and 
distribution 

1,500 square 
feet of inside 
storage area 

1:1,500 square feet 

Bowling alley Lanes 5:1 lane 

Funeral home Seats 1:3 seats 

Medical/dental clinic 1,000 square 
feet of GLA* 

6:1,000 square feet 

Hotel/motel Rooms 1:1 room 

Multifamily dwelling 1 Bedroom 
2 Bedroom 
3 Bedroom 

4 spaces: 1 bedroom dwelling 
5 spaces: 2 bedroom dwelling 
6 spaces: 3 bedroom dwelling 
30% of the required spaces shall be 
covered. (At a minimum, 10% of the 
total spaces shall be designated for 
guest parking)  



 

 

Page 7 of 11 

 

Auto repair, painting, or body 
repair 

1,000 square 
feet of GLA*  

3:1,000 square feet of office area + 
4 spaces per each bay, or one 
space per 600 square feet of other 
gross floor area  

Auto wash Use 10 minimum 

Auto part sales 1,000 square 
feet of GLA* 

3:1,000 square feet of office area + 
4 spaces per each bay, or one 
space per 600 square feet of other 
gross floor area  

Auto service station Use 2 spaces per day + 2 stacking 
spaces per pump 

Automobile/vehicle sales: 

 For showroom/office 1,000 square 
feet of GLA*  

4:1,000 square feet 

 For outside lot 800 square feet 
of lot area 

1:800 square feet 

 Minimum, if greater than total 
for above 

Total site 8 spaces 

Self-storage/Mini-warehouse 12,000 square 
feet of GLA* 

1:12,000 square feet 

  

Sec. 6-419. - Special exceptions for parking and landscaping for commercial uses 
with frontage on Avenue H, Avenue I, and State Highway 36 only.  

(1) Upon written request of the property owner, the city council may grant a special 
exception to the provisions of this article, including the parking and paving 
setbacks required by subsection 6-416.2 (5), limited to and in accordance with 
the items referenced in this section.  

(2) The purpose of a special exception shall be to authorize a modification of 
standards applicable to development within the city, which is consistent with the 



 

 

Page 8 of 11 

 

overall intent of the Code, but that requires additional review to determine 
whether the development with the modifications is compatible with adjoining 
properties and the character of the neighborhood in which the development is 
proposed.  

(3) An application for a special exception shall be filed only for parking and 
landscaping provisions contained within this article of the Code.  

(4) In granting a special exception under this article, the city council may impose 
such criteria and conditions as necessary to bring the property into further 
compliance with this article and to protect adjacent property owners.  

(5) Special exceptions shall be limited to the following: 

(a) The property to which a special exception applies shall be no larger than one 
(1) acre in size.  

i. The property to which a special exception applies shall be a property in 
which an improvement is upon, and not be a stand-alone, vacant 
property, in which no building currently exists. A vacant property 
adjacent to a developed property, in which the vacant tract and the 
developed tract are replatted into one (1) lot, shall be permitted.  

ii. The special exception may allow for the reduction of parking 
requirements in an amount not exceeding twenty-five (25) percent of 
the parking required for that use under this article.  

(6) Application requirements. An application for a special exception shall be 
accompanied by the following:  

(a) Completed application, as provided by the planning department. 

(b) A statement detailing the specifics of the site, including the size of the site, 
the size of any buildings to be utilized, the parking spaces proposed, and any 
other information deemed appropriate by the planning director.  

(c) A site plan of the subject property. 

(d) A landscape plan showing as much conformance to the landscaping 
requirements as the site can accommodate.  

(7) Application processing.  

(a) The planning commission shall consider an application for a special 
exception and make a recommendation to the city council.  

(b) The planning department shall cause notice to be sent by regular mail before 
the tenth day before the date in which the special exception is considered by 
the city council, to each owner of real property located within two hundred 
(200) feet of the exterior boundary of the property in question.  

(c) The planning department shall cause notice to be published in a newspaper 
of general circulation in the city before the tenth day before the date in which 
the special exception is considered by the city council.  



 

 

Page 9 of 11 

 

(d) The city council shall hold a public hearing and receive public comments 
regarding the special exception.  

Sec. 6-420. - Outdoor displays of motor vehicles; paving requirements.  

(1) Definitions.  

(a) Motor vehicle shall mean a self-propelled vehicle required to be registered 
under the Texas Transportation Code, and is designed for use on a public 
roadway, regardless if the motor vehicle is operable, inoperable or 
dismantled.  

(b) Outdoor display area(s) shall mean an area for the outdoor display of motor 
vehicles that are available for rent, sale, lease or storage.  

(c) Residential property means an establishment serving a single-family or 
household.  

(2) Outdoor display areas, paving requirements. All outdoor display areas shall be 
paved with a permanent all-weather surface of asphalt concrete or Portland 
cement concrete approved by the planning director.  

(a) Outdoor display of motor vehicles shall not be displayed on areas that are 
designated for off-street parking or are included in the computation for 
designated off-street parking (unless the off-street parking spaces available 
exceed the number of spaces required for off-street parking), areas 
designated for landscaping, grass, dirt, gravel or other unimproved surfaces.  

(b) Display of one (1) motor vehicle for sale on residential property shall not be 
considered an outdoor display area for purposes of this section.  

(c) Outdoor display areas of motor vehicles that require proper screening 
pursuant to applicable city ordinances shall comply with screening 
requirements in addition to paving.  

(d) Outdoor display areas shall not encroach into the sight visibility triangle. 

(3) Outdoor display areas in existence at time of enactment of this article. A person 
owning, renting, leasing, or operating an outdoor display area on the date of 
enactment of this article shall have a period of six (6) months from the date of 
enactment of this article in which to comply with the paving requirements set forth 
in subsection 6-417(b) of this article. This section shall only apply to outdoor 
display area(s) as it existed on the date of enactment of this article. Should an 
existing outdoor display area(s) be enlarged or expanded prior to the end of the 
six-month period, the entire outdoor display area(s) shall be required, at time of 
enlargement or expansion, to comply with subsection 6-417(b).  

Sec. 6-421. - Outside display of merchandise. 

Merchandise, as defined in this chapter, shall not be displayed or stored outside of 
a fully enclosed building, except under the following circumstances: 

(1) It is not located within 25’ of the public street right-of-way; 



 

 

Page 10 of 11 

 

(2) It is not located in a drive aisle or parking space that is designated for any 
business at any time; 

(3) It is owned by the owner or lessee of the property on which it is displayed or 
stored; and 

(4) It does not occupy a contiguous area in excess of 10 percent of the floor area 
of the building or tenant space, whichever is less, of the business displaying or 
storing the merchandise. 

 

Secs. 6-422—6-424. - Reserved.  

ARTICLE XVII. - SINGLE-FAMILY AND ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS  

Sec. 6-425. - Definitions.  

The following definitions shall be applicable to the terms and provisions as used in this 
article:  

Accessory dwelling unit shall mean a subordinate structure that is located on the 
same lot, tract, or parcel of land as the main structure, which is incidental to the use of 
the main structure.  

Estate lot shall mean a residential lot, tract, or parcel of land containing three (3) 
acres or greater.  

Exterior shall mean the façade of the building not including windows or doors. 

Masonry shall mean brick, stone, real stucco or a combination thereof and shall not 
include exterior insulation and finishing system (EIFS), hardiplank or any other material 
not specifically provided for in this definition. 

Single-family dwelling unit shall mean a building containing one (1) dwelling unit that 
is designed to be occupied by one (1) family.  

Sec. 6-426. - Single-family dwelling units.  

(1) There shall be only one (1) single-family dwelling unit permitted per platted lot, 
tract, or parcel of land.  

(2) Single-family dwellings on lots platted after the effective date of this ordinance 
shall consist of a minimum of: 

(a) Seventy-five (75) percent masonry exterior for structures that are one (1) 
story in height 

(b) Fifty (50) percent masonry exterior for structures that are two (2) stories and 
above in height 

  



 

 

Page 11 of 11 

 

Sec. 6-4276. - Construction of accessory dwelling units.  

An accessory dwelling unit shall be permitted to be constructed, in accordance with 
the provisions of this article, on an estate lot containing a single-family dwelling unit. An 
accessory dwelling unit shall not be permitted to be constructed on a lot, tract, or parcel 
of land containing less than three (3) acres.  

Sec. 6-4286. - Restrictions on accessory dwelling units.  

An accessory dwelling unit constructed on an estate lot shall be subject to the 
following conditions and restrictions:  

(1) An accessory dwelling unit shall not be rented or leased, under any conditions; 

(2) There shall be only one (1) accessory dwelling unit permitted on any estate lot; 

(3) An accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed two (2) stories. 

(4) There shall be only one (1) water tap, sanitary sewer tap, electrical connection, 
and gas connection permitted for an estate lot to serve the main structure and 
any accessory dwelling unit.  

(5) An accessory dwelling unit shall not be a mobile home or manufactured home. 

Sec. 6-4297. - Building permit requirements for accessory dwelling units.  

At the time a building permit application is submitted for the construction of an 
accessory dwelling unit, the applicant must submit a site plan. This requirement to 
provide a site plan shall be cumulative of, and in addition to, such other regulations and 
requirements as may be imposed under this Code.  

Sec. 6-43028. - Setbacks for accessory dwelling units.  

The following set back lines shall be established for all accessory dwelling units, 
and shall be so indicated on all site plans as delineated below:  

(1) Front yard. The front yard setback for an accessory dwelling unit shall be fifty 
(50) feet from the property line. The front yard orientation is established in 
accordance with the main structure.  

(2) Side and rear yard. The side and rear yard setbacks for an accessory dwelling 
unit shall be thirty (30) feet from the property line. The side and rear yard 
orientation is established in accordance with the main structure.  

(3) Main dwelling. The setback for an accessory dwelling unit from the main 
structure shall be ten (10) feet.  

Sec. 6-43129. - Penalty.  

Any person who shall violate any provision of this article shall be deemed guilty of a 
misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall be subject to the penalty provided in Section 
1-13 of this Code.  

Secs. 6-4320—6-439. - Reserved.  



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle

reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle

reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
 
January 27, 2015 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

5 Proposed Palladium Tax Credit Multifamily Development Discussion 

ITEM/MOTION 

Review and discuss a proposed tax credit multifamily development project by Palladium Rosenberg, and 
take action as necessary to direct staff. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY ELECTION DISTRICT 

Annualized Dollars: 

[   ] One-time 
[   ] Recurring 
[X] N/A 

Budgeted: 

[X] Yes  [   ] No  [   ] N/A 

Source of Funds:  N/A 

 

[   ] District 1 
[   ] District 2 
[   ] District 3 
[   ] District 4 
[   ] City-wide 
[X] N/A 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS:  MUD #:  N/A 

 
1. Palladium Correspondence - 01-05-15 

 

APPROVALS 

Submitted by:   

 

Travis Tanner, AICP 
Executive Director of 
Community Development 
 

Reviewed by:   
 
[   ] Exec. Dir. of Administrative Services 
[   ] Asst. City Manager of Public Services   
[   ] City Attorney     
[   ] City Engineer 
[   ] (Other) 
 

Approved for Submittal 
to City Council: 
  
 
Robert Gracia 
City Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Palladium USA, a multifamily residential developer, has requested the opportunity to discuss with City 
Council a proposed tax credit multifamily development.  It is staff’s understanding that the project would be 
in the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) and not in the City Limits; however, they will potentially be 
requesting City Council’s support for the project, hence the discussion item on the Agenda.  At this time, 
specific plans for the project have not been submitted.  As staff understands it, the project would be 
located on property bounded by FM 2977, Tori, Rohan and Reading Roads immediately outside of the City 
Limits. 
 





CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION 
 

January 27, 2014  
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

6  Statue Request in Seabourne Creek Park Discussion 

ITEM/MOTION 
 

Review and discuss a request for statue placement in Seabourne Creek Park, and take action as 
necessary to direct staff. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY ELECTION DISTRICT 

Annualized Dollars: 

[   ] One-time 
[   ] Recurring 
[X] N/A 

Budgeted: 

[   ] Yes  [X] No  [X] N/A 

Source of Funds:  N/A 

 

[  ] District 1 
[  ] District 2 
[  ] District 3 
[X] District 4 
[  ] City-wide 
[  ] N/A 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS:  MUD #:  N/A 

1. Council Meeting Minute Excerpt – 11-18-14 
2. Council Meeting Minute Excerpt – 08-19-14 
3. Parks and Recreation Board Meeting Draft Minute Excerpt – 12-18-14 

 

APPROVALS 

Submitted by:   

 

Darren McCarthy 
Parks and Recreation 
Director 

Reviewed by:  
  
[   ] Exec. Dir. of Administrative Services 
[   ] Asst. City Manager of Public Services   
[   ] City Attorney     
[   ] City Engineer 
[X] Exec. Dir. of Support Services 
 

Approved for Submittal 
to City Council: 
   
 
Robert Gracia 
City Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On December 18, 2014, at the regularly scheduled Parks and Recreation Board (Board) meeting, staff 
presented a statue request from Ms. Joan Williams McLeod. Ms. McLeod had previously addressed City 
Council on August 19, 2014, with a request that half of the six (6) acres of land previously donated by her 
family be returned.  The City Attorney and City Council presented reasons why abandoning the property is 
a difficult process.  Ms. McLeod revisited City Council on November 18, 2014, with an alternate request 
that a statue by guest artist Eric Kaposta be placed in Seabourne Creek Park to honor her family for 
donating land. Ms. McLeod also requested for the City to pay for all costs associated with the proposed 
statue with the monies received from the pipeline crossing the park.  Recognition for the donation of land 
was not written into the family’s Agreement, which expired one (1) year ago. The Board reviewed the 
meeting minutes of City Council and after some discussion, the Board unanimously recommended that a 
walking trail be named after the family.  
 
Staff has placed this item on the Agenda to receive City Council’s input on the Board recommendation that 
a walking trail being named after the Williams family to honor the family’s prior donation of land to 
Seabourne Creek Park.   
 



 

katrinap
Rectangle



katrinap
Rectangle



katrinap
Rectangle



katrinap
Rectangle



 
 
 
 

 
ITEM 7 

 
Adjournment. 

 


	City Council Workshop Meeting Agenda - 01-27-15
	1 - Junked Vehicle Regulations Discussion
	Code Excerpt - Chapter 14, Article VI - Junked Vehicles

	2 - FY15 Tree Trimming Contract Discussion
	FY2010 Tree Trimming Bid Proposal
	City Council District Map
	District 4 Tree Trimming List - Draft

	3 - Traffic Calming - Speed Hump Policy Discussion
	Proposed Speed Hump Installation and Removal Policy and Procedures 
	City Council Meeting Minute Excerpt - 11-18-14
	City Council Meeting Minute Excerpt - 05-27-14

	4 - Proposed Amendments to Chapter 6 Articles XVI and XVII Discussion
	Draft Ordinance Amendments - Chapter 6, Articles XVI and XVII - Redlined
	City Council Meeting Minute Excerpt - 04-22-14
	Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt - 10-15-14
	Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt - 07-16-14
	Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt - 06-18-14
	Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt - 05-21-14
	Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt - 04-24-13

	5 - Proposed Palladium Tax Credit Multifamily Development Discussion
	Palladium Correspondence - 01-05-15

	6 - Statue Request in Seabourne Creek Park Discussion
	City Council Meeting Minute Excerpt - 11-18-14
	City Council Meeting Minute Excerpt - 08-19-14
	Parks and Recreation Board Meeting Draft Minute Excerpt - 12-18-14

	7 - Adjournment



